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MESSAGE FROM THE 
PRESIDENT

The 2025 fiscal year marked a turning point for USC — one that required difficult 
decisions and a collective effort to sustain and refuel our long-term mission.

Like many universities, USC has been operating in an increasingly volatile financial 
environment. Rising costs, uncertainty in federal research funding, and broader 
pressures across higher education have strained traditional operating models. Adding 
to these challenges, USC entered this period with a structural budget deficit that, left 
unaddressed, would have sapped our long-term financial plan’s strength.

In response to these challenges, our community coalesced around a comprehensive 
effort to stabilize the University’s finances and bring greater discipline and transparency 
to the way we manage our resources. These actions included reductions in staffing and 
spending across the University. Although difficult, the University made these decisions 
with the goal of protecting and fortifying USC’s core academic mission.

Even as we made these difficult decisions, our community did not lose sight of the 
importance of sustaining research funding, philanthropic support, and our endowment 
— all of which are on the rise. We are focused on sustaining this momentum and 
positioning the University to thrive and excel in the years ahead. That work will include 
aligning resources with clearly defined academic and research priorities; strengthening 
our partnerships with private industry, foundations, and all levels of government; and 
leaning into innovation.

Our lodestar must always be our institutional values and long-term mission of providing 
exceptional educational value and generating life-changing research and innovation. 
That mission has never been more vitally needed than it is today. I am grateful to the 
entire Trojan Family for its exceptional efforts to lift up our students, our communities, 
and our world for generations to come.

Fight On!

Beong-Soo Kim
President
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, FINANCE,  
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The University of Southern California’s financial report for the year ended June 30, 
2025, reflects a period of adjustment and renewed discipline across the institution. The 
following pages illustrate how the University managed its finances during this time and 
how those decisions are shaping USC’s financial position going forward.

Financial Resilience

A guiding tenet of our work is USC’s long-term financial resilience across the academic 
enterprise, the health system, and auxiliary operations. This has meant taking steps to 
ensure disciplined cost management, diversify funding sources, and prudently manage 
our liquidity, debt, and capital investments. These efforts included a hiring freeze, a 
pause on merit increases, reductions in head count, and targeted cuts in operating 
expenses — trade-offs required to balance near-term needs with long-term feasibility.

Supporting USC’s Academic Mission

At the same time, this financial support system exists to enhance USC’s academic 
mission and strategic priorities. Even as we focused on cost containment, the University 
continued to invest in areas that emphasize USC’s research and academic strengths. 
By prioritizing high-impact, interdisciplinary work, USC is better positioned to translate 
discoveries into innovations with societal and economic benefit while remaining 
competitive in a funding environment that continues to evolve.

Student Outcomes and Opportunities

The student experience also remains a core consideration in our financial planning. 
The University continues to support access and affordability while examining how 
resources are used to foster student success, build career readiness, and provide lasting 
educational value. In light of shifting federal priorities and legislative frameworks, we are 
taking a more deliberate approach to evaluating programs, with particular attention to the 
student outcomes and opportunities they enable.
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Looking Ahead

The data presented in this report show a university actively adapting its operating model,  
with a clear emphasis on accountability and fiscal discipline. From a financial 
management perspective, our focus is on maintaining the flexibility needed to support 
USC’s priorities over time. While uncertainties remain across higher education, the steps 
we have taken during and since fiscal year 2025 have strengthened our ability to navigate 
volatility and make deliberate, well-informed decisions.

I am grateful to the many people across the USC community whose engagement, 
commitment, and discipline made this progress possible. Their efforts are reflected 
throughout this report and will continue to ensure USC’s financial health in the years 
ahead.

Erik Brink
Senior Vice President, Finance,  
and Chief Financial Officer
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USC
HIGHLIGHTS
2025

AN EXCEPTIONAL  
STUDENT EXPERIENCE

Our 21,000 undergraduates and 25,000  
graduate and professional students come to USC 
from more than 130 countries for an extraordinary
educational experience. Drawn by the opportunit
to shape the future with unmatched passion,  
intellect, and optimism, each new class of Trojan
engages deeply in a campus life defined by  
academic rigor and creative exploration. Hundred
of organizations, events, and programs foster 
connection, leadership, and service, while  
close collaboration with faculty helps students 
translate their ambitions into action. Trojans  
form communities and benefit from exposure to 
perspectives as broad as their expertise is deep. 
Our graduates are prepared to excel in any field 
they choose and are part of a powerful, global 
alumni network with more than 500,000  
members worldwide.

 
y 

s 
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THE EDUCATION OF A LIFETIME

At USC, students experience a transformational education that facilitates  
interdisciplinary study and research, expanding their minds, their experience, 
and their networks and allowing them to tackle challenges well beyond  
a single subject or area of interest. They learn from and collaborate with  
faculty of the highest caliber, whose work has made an indelible impact on 
our world. The range of disciplines, breadth of research, and access to  
pipelines of innovation shape Trojans’ academic experience and prepare  
them to be the next generation of leaders who impact society and address  
the world’s most pressing grand challenges.

USC’s esteemed faculty teach and mentor our students and drive exceptional 
outcomes for a curated global student body with strong academic records, 
real-world experience, and the skills needed for career success.

6
Nobel  

Laureates

8
MacArthur  

Fellows

27
Pulitzer  
Prizes

4
Guggenheim  
Fellowships

23 
preeminent schools

>46K
students

4,626
full-time faculty

71
National Academy  

members

 
 



RESEARCH THAT CHANGES AND SAVES LIVES 

We envision a better tomorrow by creating the discoveries that drive  
progress forward — and a belief in the people who make it possible. Our 
investment in talent attracts top-tier scholars, scientists, artists, student- 
athletes, researchers, and more from around the world who expand  
knowledge and improve lives.

This ingenuity ecosystem fuels breakthroughs across disciplines: life- 
saving scientific discoveries; six conservatory-level schools that redefine 
artistic achievement; and first-to-market technologies advancing AI,  
data science, and quantum computing — positioning USC at the forefront  
of innovation with global impact.

#2
Ranked second among  

all private universities for  
DOD-sponsored research

$900M+
in sponsored research 
expenditures for FY25

43
startups established in FY25 
with faculty, staff, students, 

and alumni as founders

 
Eliminating Alzheimer’s  
Lead site for the Artificial  

Intelligence for Alzheimer’s  
Disease Consortium and for 
studying external factors’  

impact on Alzheimer’s  
risk — NIH grant

Fighting Against Diabetes   
Leading multi-site study on  

early brain development of babies 
born to mothers with diabetes  

in pregnancy — NIH award

Leading in AI Discovery    
Harnessing the power of  

artificial intelligence to fuel 
 innovation and usher in a new  

era of medical research

HEALTHCARE FOR THE 21ST CENTURY 

We create a healthier future through integrated academic medicine.  
Grounded in seven health sciences schools and units that together provide 
deep, multidisciplinary expertise — and a robust and expansive health system 
that defines next-generation patient care — USC unites research, education, 
and clinical practice to transform lives across Southern California and beyond. 

Groundbreaking discoveries, cross-disciplinary collaboration, and the  
rapid transfer of knowledge into care define USC’s approach to 21st-century 
healthcare as we deliver innovation directly to patients while training the 
next generation of health leaders.

1.5M
visits annually to USC’s  
4 hospitals and 100+  

outpatient clinics

A
1
CTIVE CLINICAL TRIALS
,100+

 
with more than 35,000 participants to investigate new  
ways to prevent, detect, diagnose, and treat diseases 

Keck Medicine of USC hospitals 
nationally recognized for safety, 

quality, and satisfaction

Specializing in complex care and 
the nation’s most acute cases 

Leader in cancer, Alzheimer’s, 
aging, and biomedical research, 

and cardiac surgery

Home to a National Cancer  
Institute-designated  

comprehensive cancer center,  
advancing cell and gene  

therapies to fight and cure cancer

Serving the community through 
USC Street Medicine, one of the 

largest programs of its kind
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FIS

2025
CAL YEAR RESULTS

Net Assets

Since fiscal year 2024, USC’s consolidated net assets increased by 
$855 million, or 7.3%, to $12.5 billion as of June 30, 2025. This growth 
was primarily driven by strong investment performance and continued 
philanthropic support from the University’s generous donors. Over the 
last 10 years, the net assets have increased 58.8%, or $4.6 billion.

Consolidated Net Assets

$ in billions
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Fiscal year 2025 operating results, after insurance recoveries of 
$56 million, reflected a deficit of $195 million. This represented 
an increase of $38 million compared to fiscal year 2024, driven 
by expenses for the health system, athletics, and administrative 
operations, which each exceeded their respective revenues. 

Year-to-Year Change in Consolidated Operating Revenue  
and Expense (%)
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The University has taken significant steps to eliminate the consolidated 
deficit through cost-containment measures, including a hiring freeze, 
workforce reductions, and targeted reductions in operating expenses.

Revenues

As shown in the chart below, the University derives its revenue 
from seven main sources: student tuition and fees; health care 
services; contracts and grants; auxiliary enterprises; sales, services, 
and other; contributions; and allocation of endowment spending.

USC Operating Revenues

For period ending June 30, 2025

5.1%
5.5%

7.3%
23.7%4.7%

11.8%

41.9%

 Student Tuition and Fees  

 Health Care Services 

 Contracts and Grants  

 Auxiliary Enterprises  

 Sales, Services, and Other  

 Contributions  

 Allocation of Endowment Spending 

USC Tuition and Financial Aid

Student Tuition and Fees
Tuition revenue increased by $57 million, rising from $1,723 million 
in fiscal year 2024 to $1,780 million in fiscal year 2025. Gross 
student tuition revenue totaled $2,627 million in fiscal year 2025, 
representing a 3% increase from $2,550 million in fiscal year 2024. 
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
student tuition and fees are reported net of financial aid, which 
amounted to $847 million in fiscal year 2025 and $827 million in 
fiscal year 2024. Student tuition and fees accounted for 23.7% and 
23.3% of the University’s operating revenues in fiscal years 2025 
and 2024, respectively.

During the 2025 fiscal year, total enrollment was 46,566 students, 
including 20,630 undergraduate students and 25,936 graduate 
students.

The total annual cost of attendance for undergraduate students at 
USC for the 2024–2025 fiscal year was $95,225, reflecting a 5.3% 
increase from $90,453 in 2023–2024.

The University is committed to meeting the full demonstrated 
financial need of all undergraduate students throughout their 
enrollment. First-time students with family income less than 
$80,000 attend USC tuition free. 

Approximately 19% of the entering first-year classes in both fiscal 
years 2025 and 2024 received merit-based scholarships. More than 
two-thirds of USC students receive some form of financial aid, and 
the University enrolls a higher proportion of low-income students, 
as defined by Pell Grant eligibility, than most private research 
universities in the country. USC administers one of the largest 
financial aid programs in the United States.

 

 Student Financial Aid 

 Student Tuition and Fees

$2,700 M

$1,800 M

$900 M

$1,780M

2025

$847M

$1,723M

2024

$827M

$1,745M

2023

$763M

$1,743M

2022

$725M

$1,581M

2021

$671M

$1,621M

2020

$638M

$1,575M

2019

$603M

$1,487M

2018

$556M

$1,389M

2017

$511M

$1,310M

2016

$483M
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USC Health Care Services Revenue
Health care services revenue totaled $3,155 million in fiscal year 
2025, a decrease of 1% from $3,187 million in fiscal year 2024. Health 
care services revenue represents the largest revenue stream for the 
University at 41.9% of total operating revenue. The largest portion  
of this revenue stream, $2,642 million, is derived from medical 
services provided by the combined operations of Keck Hospital of 
USC, USC Norris Cancer Hospital, USC Verdugo Hills Hospital, and 
USC Arcadia Hospital.

In the 2024–2025 U.S. News & World Report Best Hospitals rankings, 
Keck Medical Center of USC — comprising Keck Hospital of USC 
and USC Norris Cancer Hospital — was ranked among the top three 
hospitals in the Los Angeles region and among the top six hospitals 
in California. In addition, Keck Medicine of USC received national 
recognition in eight medical specialties.

The hospitals are among the nation’s leading medical centers, 
providing medical and health care services to inpatients and 
outpatients throughout Southern California. Keck Medical Center 
of USC includes the 343-bed acute care Keck Hospital of USC, the 
60-bed USC Norris Cancer Hospital, the 158-bed community USC 
Verdugo Hills Hospital, and the 348-bed community USC Arcadia 
Hospital. It also includes more than 40 outpatient facilities, some 
at affiliated hospitals, in the Los Angeles, Orange, Kern, Tulare, and 
Ventura counties, and Las Vegas. The medical faculty physician 
group, USC Care Medical Group, Inc., practices at these facilities  
and at Children’s Hospital Los Angeles and Los Angeles General 
Medical Center.

As illustrated in the graph below, the USC health care enterprise has 
achieved consistent revenue growth over the past five years. The 
enterprise remains focused on implementing long-term strategies to 
enhance patient volume and optimize payor mix.

Health Care Services Revenue

 

 

 

 

$8,000 M 

$6,000 M 

$4,000 M 

$2,000 M

 Total Operating Revenue 
 Health Care Services Revenue

Contract and Grants Revenue
USC is a top-tier research university, distinguished by the scale and 
breadth of its research enterprise and signature strengths that range 
from biomedical discovery and computing to transformative creative 
practice in the arts and cinema.

Total annual research expenditures of the University, inclusive of 
indirect cost recoveries, increased 2.9% from $860 million in fiscal 
year 2024 to $885 million in fiscal year 2025. The contracts and 
grants graphic on the next page presents current sponsored awards 
and executed grants and contracts for future periods, as disclosed in 
footnote 15 of the fiscal year 2025 consolidated financial statements. 
Total contracts and grants have grown since fiscal year 2016, with 
recent increases in executed grants and contracts for future periods 
driven in part by sustained growth in the number of sponsored 
research proposals awarded to USC investigators.

In addition to reimbursement for direct costs charged to sponsored 
awards, sponsoring agencies reimburse the University for a portion 
of facilities and administrative costs, commonly referred to as 
indirect costs. These costs include research laboratory space, 
facilities and utilities, and administrative and support services 
associated with sponsored activities. Reimbursements for facilities 
and administrative costs totaled $235 million in fiscal year 2025, 
compared to $230 million in fiscal year 2024, representing an 
increase of 2.2%. Recovery of facilities and administrative costs on 
federally sponsored awards is recorded at rates negotiated with the 
University’s cognizant agency, the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services.

USC Contract and Grant Awards
Executed contracts, grants, subcontracts, and cooperative 
agreements for future sponsored research activity which are not 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 
2025, is $2,304 million, an increase of 10% from June 30, 2024, of 
$2,094 million.

Contracts and grants revenue remains subject to uncertainty 
due to evolving federal policy priorities and broader economic 
conditions. Changes in federal funding levels, reductions in indirect 
cost recovery rates, or shifts in agency funding allocations could 
adversely affect the University’s research revenue and operating 
results. Continued volatility in the federal funding environment 
may further constrain the availability and predictability of research 
support.

USC Contract and Grant Awards

 Current Sponsored Awards 

 Executed Grants for Contracts for Future Periods

$3,000 M

$2,500 M

$2,000 M

$1,500 M

$1,000 M

$500 M

$627M

$1,162M

2025

$1,142M

$1,122M

2024

$972M

$1,250M

2023

$1,126M

$1,351M

2022

$1,241M

$1,376M

2021

$1,197M

$1,325M

2020

$1,166M

$1,414M

2019

$780M

$1,192M

2018

$764M

$801M

2017

$757M

2016

$784M

Contribution Revenue
Contributions provide essential funding to advance the University’s 
academic priorities, support investment in physical infrastructure, 
enhance student support, and establish permanent endowment 
resources that benefit future generations of Trojans. In the 
aggregate, contributions (operating and non-operating) recognized 
in the University’s consolidated financial statements totaled $717 
million in fiscal year 2025, compared to $712 million reported in fiscal 

year 2024. In fiscal year 2024, the University recognized $126 million 
in contributions related to prior-period death contingent pledges/
gifts that met the applicable accounting recognition thresholds but 
had not been previously recorded. Excluding that one-time fiscal 
year 2024 adjustment, contribution revenue for that year would have 
totaled $586 million. As a result, contributions increased by $131 
million, or 22.4%, in fiscal year 2025.

USC Contribution Revenue

 Restricted for Endowment and Capital Projects (Non-Operating) 

 Unrestricted (Operating)

$712M $717M

$700 M

$604M $610M

$600 M $572M
$524M

$490M $471M$500 M
$447M $447M

$400 M

$300 M

$200 M

$100 M

$245M

$275M

$301M

2025

$416M

$287M

2024

$425M
$85M

2023

$386M

$248M

2022

$242M

2021

$279M

$162M

2020

$285M

$173M

2019

$274M

$279M

2018

$293M

$329M

2017

$281M

2016

$329M

 

1 2  |  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 5   University of Southern California University of Southern California  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 5  |  1 3



USC Contribution Revenue
Certain gifts commonly reported in fundraising results are not 
recognized as contributions in the University’s consolidated financial 
statements. Examples of gifts that are not included are certain 
portions of pledges whose full conditions have not yet been met 
(e.g., contributions recognizable contingent upon the construction 
of new buildings or improvements to existing buildings).

Auxiliary Enterprises Revenue
Auxiliary enterprises revenue totaled $357 million in fiscal year 2025, 
an increase of 11.4% from fiscal year 2024 revenue of $320 million, 
and represented 4.7% of the University’s fiscal year 2025 operating 
revenue. Auxiliary enterprises revenue includes revenue associated 
with USC Athletics, USC Village, and the Los Angeles Memorial 
Coliseum. Auxiliary revenue also includes revenue from the various 
service lines such as housing, hospitality, bookstores, and the  
USC Hotel. 

Sales, Services, and Other Revenue
Sales, services, and other revenue totaled $545 million in fiscal year 
2025, an increase of 6.4% from fiscal year 2024 revenue of $512 
million, and represented 7.3% of the University’s fiscal year 2025 
operating revenue. Some of the major components of sales, services, 
and other category include revenue from USC Pharmacies and 
student clinics, the Norris Dental Science Center clinics, Oral Health 
Center, USC Ticket Office, and USC Radio Group.

Allocation of Endowment Spending
Each year, a portion of accumulated endowment investment returns 
is allocated to support operational activity. This important source 
of revenue totaled $384 million in fiscal year 2025, consistent with 
fiscal year 2024 revenue of $382 million, and represented 5.1% of the 
University’s fiscal year 2025 operating revenue.

The level of spending is computed in accordance with an endowment 
spending policy that has the effect of smoothing year-to-year market 
swings. Additional information on the endowment spending policy is 
provided in the endowment section of the fiscal year 2025 results,  
see footnote 7.

Expenses

Expenses before insurance recoveries totaled $7,772 million for 
fiscal year 2025, representing a 2.7% increase from the fiscal year 
2024 operating expenses of $7,566 million. As displayed in the 
“USC Expenses by Natural Classification” graphic below, salaries 
and benefits are the largest component of operating expenses, at 
approximately 58.1% of total expenses, see footnote 13.

USC Expenses by Natural Classification

For period ending June 30, 2025

 Salaries and Benefits 

 Materials and Supplies  

 Other Operating Expenditures  

 Depreciation  

1.3%
4.5%

3.2%

32.9%

58.1%

 Interest

During fiscal year 2025, USC employed more than 4,626 faculty 
members, 19,957 staff members (including hospital and academic 
staff members), and 9,185 student workers as full-time equivalents. 

Compensation costs of salaries and benefits were $4,514 million in 
fiscal year 2025, a 4.9% increase compared to compensation costs 
in fiscal year 2024 of $4,302 million.

These costs include salary, pension, postretirement health, and 
insurance plan costs in addition to Social Security and other 
statutory benefits. With respect to consolidated expenses, operating 
expenses for fiscal year 2025 were consistent with those in fiscal 
year 2024. Depreciation expense in fiscal year 2025 was $347 million 
compared to $350 million in fiscal year 2024, and interest expense 
decreased 9.3% compared to fiscal year 2024.

USC Expenses by Functional Classification

For period ending June 30, 2025

  Academic, Health Care, and Student Services 

 Support Services 

 Fundraising Activities

1%
16%

83%

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,  
USC reports its expenses by functional classification, see footnote 13. 
When reviewing the University expenses by functional classification 
as noted in the “USC Expenses by Functional Classification” graphic, 
the University spends 83% of its resources on academic, health care, 
and student services. Academic and student services represent 
29%, health care services represent 45%, and sponsored research 
represents 9% of spending. Health care activities and sponsored 
research are integral to the academic and learning experiences  
at USC.

Physical Capital

Capital spending on facilities and infrastructure totaled $664 million 
in fiscal year 2025, representing a 35% increase compared to $492 
million in fiscal year 2024. Major projects included the Dr. Allen 
and Charlotte Ginsburg Human-Centered Computation Hall, which 
serves as the new home for computer science at USC; Rawlinson 
Stadium, the University’s women’s soccer and lacrosse facility; 
Athletics West, encompassing the Bloom Football Performance 
Center and the new Baseball Complex; and the Pasadena Medical 
Office Building, among others.

The University’s outstanding bonds and notes payable is 
approximately $3,838 million, excluding capital leases. The increase 
in bonds and notes payable of $658 million compared to fiscal year 
2024 was related to the issuance of $600 million in par value tax-
exempt Series 2025 Revenue Bonds via the California Educational 
Facilities Authority. In fiscal year 2025, the finance lease obligations 
increased by $68 million, or 38.3% as a result of the University 
entering into a lease agreement for the Pasadena Medical Office 
Building for 101,000 square feet of space and a Newport Beach 
Radiation Therapy and Imaging Center.

Refer to the graphic on the following page for capital spending by 
year, dating back to fiscal year 2016.
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USC Capital Spending by Fiscal Year

 Purchase of Property, Plant, and Equipment
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Endowment

The endowment provides an important source of support for the 
academic programs of the University. To balance current and future 
needs, USC employs investment and spending policies designed to 
preserve endowment asset values while providing a substantial flow 
of income. As of June 30, 2025, net assets in the endowment totaled 
approximately $8,774 million, an increase of approximately $681 
million, or 8.4%, from the June 30, 2024, endowment balance of 
$8,093 million. See footnote 7 of the financial statements.

Endowment Spending
The endowment spending policy, which allocates endowment 
earnings to operations, balances the competing objectives of 
providing a stable flow of income and protecting the real value of the 
endowment over time. The spending policy manages the trade-off 
between these two objectives by using a long-term target spending 
rate combined with a smoothing rule, which adjusts spending in 
any given year gradually in response to changes in endowment 
market value. The spending rule determines the endowment income 
and realized gains to be distributed for current spending with 
the provision that any amounts remaining after the distribution 
be transferred and reinvested in the endowment pool as funds 
functioning as endowment.

For fiscal year 2025, the Board of Trustees approved the current 
distribution at the same level as the prior year’s payout, within a 
minimum of 4% and a maximum of 6% of the average market value 
for the previous 12 calendar quarters.

Under the provisions of the spending rule, $40.09 was distributed 
to each time-weighted unit for a total spending rule allocation of 
$395.4 million. Investment income amounting to $4.64 per time-
weighted unit was earned, totaling $46.3 million, and $349.1 million 
was appropriated for current operations from cumulative gains of 
pooled investments.

Endowment pool earnings allocated for spending in fiscal year 2025 
represent 4.67% of the market value of the endowment pool as of 
June 30, 2025.

USC Endowment Pool Market Value per Share
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Asset Allocation
The endowment has a long-term investment horizon and employs 
investment strategies that provide varying degrees of liquidity. 
The USC asset allocation graph (below) displays the endowment’s 
asset allocation and the respective policy weights as of June 30, 
2025. USC’s investments in global equity, venture capital, and 

private equity are considered growth assets and are instrumental 
in driving the endowment’s long-term returns. Investments in 
fixed income are included to provide diversification and liquidity, 
whereas total return is intended to dampen volatility and provide a 
diversified source of return during turbulent markets. Cash is used 
to meet operational needs.

USC Endowment Pool

Actual market value and policy allocation % as of June 30, 2025
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USC Endowment Pool
USC’s global equity program is expected to generate growth and 
compound returns over the long term. Public equities include both 
U.S. and non-U.S. equities. Long-biased and long/short equity 
managers will also be classified in this category. The global equity 
program has returned 9% annualized over 10 years.

The private equity program consists of illiquid buyout and distressed 
debt investments. The program is expected to generate a return 
premium over the public equity markets. This return premium is in 
exchange for the illiquidity, leverage, and size risks. Private equity 
contributed significantly to the endowment fiscal year return. The 
program’s 10-year return is 14.3% annually.

The venture capital program includes illiquid investments in 
newly formed companies, primarily in the technology sector. The 
program is expected to generate a return premium over public 
equity markets. This premium is a result of the illiquidity and early-
stage company risk. Venture capital remains the endowment’s best 
performing asset class, generating 15.6% annually over 10 years. 

USC’s total return program is expected to mitigate the return 
volatility of the endowment while generating a diversified source of 
return, from both current income and capital appreciation, with less 
correlation to equity risk. These investments include uncorrelated 
strategies (such as absolute return hedge funds), credit, and real 
estate. Since this program’s inception on July 1, 2021, the program 
has delivered a 7.8% annualized return over four years.

The endowment’s fixed-income program is expected to balance the 
return generation in equities with the balance of investment grade 
bonds, treasuries, and treasury inflation-protected securities. The 
program contributed positively to the endowment’s fiscal year 
return. For the last 10 years, fixed income has generated a 2.1% 
return annually.

Endowment Summary
The endowment exists to support the academic mission of the 
University for current and future generations of Trojans. Because the 
endowment is expected to operate in perpetuity, the investment 
decisions will be long-term oriented.

USC continues to focus on return generation and diversification.  
The endowment’s equity orientation and well-diversified portfolio 
should position the endowment for long-term investment success.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To Board of Trustees of the University of Southern California

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the University of Southern California and its 
subsidiaries (the “University”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the 
related consolidated statements of activities and of cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the University as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US 
GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the University and 
to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are issued.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

•  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial 
doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified 
during the audit.

 

Los Angeles, California
December 18, 2025 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 
in thousands

 June 30, 2025  June 30, 2024

Assets

1 Cash and cash equivalents $680,146 $846,875 

2 Accounts receivable, net 1,179,177 1,126,544 

3 Notes receivable, net 21,390  25,182

4 Pledges receivable, net 666,137 550,790 

5 Investments 9,635,847  8,850,426 

6 Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other assets 583,613 473,928

7 Assets whose use is limited by bond indentures 639,447

8 Right-of-use assets — operating leases 221,902 256,268

9 Property, plant, and equipment, net 5,521,427  5,202,922 

10 Total Assets $19,149,086 $17,332,935 

Liabilities

11 Accounts payable $420,017 $351,001

12 Accrued liabilities 1,023,780 853,460 

13 Self insurance reserves 129,952 106,638 

14 Deposits and deferred revenue 399,483 403,647

15 Actuarial liability for annuities payable 60,598 66,360

16 Federal student loan funds 23,928 26,832

17 Asset retirement obligations 174,300 166,536

18 Operating lease obligations 231,852 264,637

19 Finance lease obligations 243,944 176,365

20 Bonds and notes payable 3,837,553 3,179,612

21 Other liabilities 84,155 73,489

22 Total Liabilities 6,629,562 5,668,577

Net Assets

23 Without donor restrictions 4,862,237 4,763,180 

24 With donor restrictions 7,657,287 6,901,178 

25 Total Net Assets 12,519,524 11,664,358 

26 Total Liabilities and Net Assets $19,149,086 $17,332,935 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
for the year ended June 30, 2025, with summarized comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2024 
in thousands

 Year Ended 
 June 30, 2025

 Year Ended 
 June 30, 2024

Operating
 Without Donor 

 Restrictions
 With Donor 

 Restrictions
Total 

 Net Assets
 Total 

 Net Assets

Revenues:

1 Student tuition and fees $1,779,798 $1,779,798 $1,722,612 

2 Health care services 3,154,648  3,154,648 3,186,529 

3 Contracts and grants 885,315  885,315 860,368 

4 Auxiliary enterprises 356,562  356,562 319,937 

5 Sales, services, and other 545,224  545,224 512,288 

6 Contributions 329,119 $86,579  415,698  424,514 

7 Allocation of endowment spending 384,264  384,264 381,976 

8 Total Revenues 7,434,930 86,579  7,521,509 7,408,224 

9 Net assets released from restrictions 105,107  (105,107)

10 Total Revenues and Reclassifications 7,540,037 (18,528) 7,521,509 7,408,224 

Expenses:

11 Salaries and benefits 4,513,774 4,513,774 4,302,453 

12 Operating expenses 2,804,746 2,804,746 2,794,809 

13 Depreciation 346,563 346,563 350,392 

14 Interest on indebtedness 107,393 107,393 118,349 

15 Total Expenses before Insurance recoveries 7,772,476 7,772,476 7,566,003 

16
(Decrease) in Net Assets from Operating Activities
before Insurance recoveries (232,439) (18,528) (157,779)

17 Insurance recoveries (refer to Note 14) 55,500 55,500 

18 (Decrease) in Net Assets from Operating Activities (176,939) (18,528) (157,779)

 Non-operating

19 Allocation of endowment spending to operations (129,681) (254,583) (381,976)

20 Changes in funding status of defined benefit plan 4,486 4,486 534 

21 Other components of net periodic benefits costs (2,229) (1,689)

22 Donor redesignations and other reclassifications

23 Investment and endowment income 43,567 1,872 45,439 74,413 

24 Net appreciation in fair value of investments 291,447 790,784 1,082,231 775,909 

25 Contributions 68,406 232,250 300,656 287,075 

26 Restricted contribution revenue — Arcadia ground lease 607 607 412 

27 Present value adjustment to annuities payable 3,707 3,707 4,427 

28 Increase in Net Assets from Non-operating Activities 275,996 774,637 1,050,633 759,105 

29 Total increase in Net Assets 99,057 756,109 855,166 601,326 

30 Beginning Net Assets 4,763,180 6,901,178 11,664,358 11,063,032 

31 Ending Net Assets $4,862,237 $7,657,287 $12,519,524 $11,664,358 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
for the year ended June 30, 2024 
in thousands

 Year Ended 
 June 30, 2024

Operating
 Without Donor 

 Restrictions
 With Donor 

 Restrictions
 Total 

 Net Assets

Revenues:

1 Student tuition and fees $1,722,612 $1,722,612 

2 Health care services 3,186,529  3,186,529 

3 Contracts and grants 860,368  860,368 

4 Auxiliary enterprises 319,937  319,937 

5 Sales, services, and other 512,288  512,288 

6 Contributions 336,211 $88,303  424,514 

7 Allocation of endowment spending 381,976  381,976 

8 Total Revenues 7,319,921 88,303  7,408,224 

9 Net assets released from restrictions 15,077  (15,077)

10 Total Revenues and Reclassifications 7,334,998 73,226 7,408,224 

Expenses:

11 Salaries and benefits 4,302,453 4,302,453 

12 Operating expenses 2,794,809 2,794,809 

13 Depreciation 350,392 350,392 

14 Interest on indebtedness 118,349 118,349 

15 Total Expenses before Insurance recoveries 7,566,003 7,566,003 

(Decrease) increase in Net Assets from Operating Activities
16 before Insurance recoveries (231,005) 73,226 (157,779)

17 Insurance recoveries

18 (Decrease) increase in Net Assets from Operating Activities (231,005) 73,226 (157,779)

Non-operating

19 Allocation of endowment spending to operations (132,745) (249,231) (381,976)

20 Changes in funding status of defined benefit plan 534 534 

21 Other components of net periodic benefit costs (1,689) (1,689)

22 Donor redesignations and other reclassifications (48,339) 48,339 

23 Investment and endowment income 71,818 2,595 74,413 

24 Net appreciation in fair value of investments 222,861 553,048 775,909 

25 Contributions 51,383 235,692 287,075 

26 Restricted contribution revenue — Arcadia ground lease 412 412 

27 Present value adjustment to annuities payable 4,427 4,427 

28 Increase in Net Assets from Non-operating Activities 163,823 595,282 759,105 

29 Total (decrease) increase in Net Assets (67,182) 668,508 601,326 

30 Beginning Net Assets 4,830,362 6,232,670 11,063,032 

31 Ending Net Assets $4,763,180 $6,901,178 $11,664,358 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024
in thousands

 Year Ended  Year Ended 
  June 30, 2025   June 30, 2024

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

1 Change in Net Assets $855,166 $601,326 

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:

2 Depreciation 346,563 350,392 

3 Loss on the disposal/sale of plant assets 10,415 17,547 

4 In-kind receipt of property, plant, and equipment (1,293) (14,265)

5 Actuarial adjustment to annuities payable (3,685) (4,448)

6 Contributions received for property, plant, and equipment and permanent investment (154,403) (75,431)

7 Net realized gain on sale of investments (359,626) (144,977)

8 Net unrealized appreciation in investments (722,744) (631,012)

9 (Increase) in accounts receivable (52,634) (172,200)

10 (Increase) in pledges receivable (203,241) (218,962)

11 (Increase) decrease in inventories, prepaid expenses, and other assets (115,582) 27,760 

12 Increase in accounts payable 103,134 19,628 

13 Increase in accrued liabilities 174,250 42,812 

14 Increase in self insurance reserves 23,314 37,892 

15 (Decrease) increase in deposits and deferred revenue (4,164) 42,174 

16 Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 12,246 (4,932)

17 Net Cash (used in) Operating Activities (92,284) (126,696)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

18 Proceeds from note collections 7,096 8,452 

19 Notes issued (3,304) (2,415)

20 Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 3,387,454 5,316,938 

21 Purchase of investments (3,085,795) (4,881,824)

22 Proceeds from sale of assets whose use is limited 25,699 

23 Purchase of assets whose use is limited (665,146)

24 Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (663,728) (491,584)

25 Net Cash (used in) Investing Activities (997,724) (50,433)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Contributions received for long-term investment:

26    Endowment 179,081 122,097 

27    Plant 59,210 3,158 

28    Trusts and other 4,008 2,021 

29 Repayment of finance lease obligation (2,339) (1,224)

30 Repayment of long-term debt (5,200) (5,500)

31 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 693,501 498,108 

32 Decrease in federal student loan funds (2,904) (3,651)

33 Change in annuities payable 3,991 4,011 

34 Payment on annuities payable (9,513) (9,406)

35 Increase to annuities payable resulting from new contributions 3,444 441 

36 Net Cash provided by Financing Activities 923,279 610,055 

37 Net (decrease) increase in Cash and Cash equivalents (166,729 ) 432,926 

38 Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year 846,875 413,949 

39 Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year $680,146 $846,875 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.

Significant Accounting Policies Followed by the  
University of Southern California Are Set Forth Below: 

General: 

The University of Southern California (“University”) is a not-for-profit 
(NFP), major private research university. The University is generally exempt 
from federal income taxes under the provisions of Internal Revenue Code 
Section 501(c)(3). The University is also generally exempt from payment of 
California state income, gift, estate, and inheritance taxes.

USC Health System is comprised of the operations of Keck Hospital of 
USC, USC Norris Cancer Hospital, USC Verdugo Hills Hospital, USC 
Arcadia Hospital (USCAH), and USC Care Medical Group, collectively 
referred to as the “Health System” or the “System.” The University is the 
sole corporate member of the Health System. The Health System is among 
the nation’s leading medical centers, providing inpatient and outpatient 
medical and health care services to patients throughout Southern 
California, the United States, and internationally.

Basis of Presentation: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting, in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America and with the provisions of the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 958, Not-for-Profit Entities, which requires the 
University to classify its net assets into two categories according to donor-
imposed restrictions: net assets without donor-imposed restrictions and net 
assets with donor-imposed restrictions. All material transactions between 
the University and its subsidiaries have been eliminated.

Net Assets Without and With Donor Restrictions: 

Net assets without donor restrictions are the part of net assets of a not-
for-profit entity that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. A 
donor-imposed restriction is a donor stipulation that specifies a use for a 
contributed asset that is more specific than broad limits resulting from the 
following: (a) the nature of the not-for-profit entity, (b) the environment 
in which it operates, and c) the purposes specified in its articles of 
incorporation or bylaws, comparable documents, or (d) time restrictions.

This classification includes all revenues, gains, and expenses not restricted 
by donors. The University reports all expenses, with the exception of 
investment expenses, which are required to be netted against investment 
return, in this class of net assets, since the use of restricted contributions in 
accordance with donors’ stipulations results in the release of the restriction.

The part of net assets of a not-for-profit entity that is subject to donor-
imposed restrictions includes contributions for which donor-imposed 
restrictions have not been met (primarily future capital projects), 
endowment appreciation, charitable remainder unitrusts, pooled income 
funds, gift annuities, and pledges receivable.

Measure of Operations: 

The University’s measure of operations as presented in the consolidated 
statements of activities includes revenue from tuition (net of certain 
scholarships and fellowships) and fees, grants and contracts, health care 

services, contributions for operating programs, the allocation of endowment 
spending for operations, other revenues, and investment returns generated 
from the University’s operating cash and assets whose use is limited by 
bond indenture. Operating expenses are reported on the consolidated 
statements of activities by natural classification.

The University’s non-operating activity within the consolidated statements 
of activities includes investment returns and other activities related to 
endowment, long-term benefit plan obligation funding changes, present 
value adjustment to annuities payable, gain/losses on extinguishment of 
debt, student loan net assets, and contributions related to land, buildings 
and equipment, and other long-term purposes which are not part of the 
University’s operating activities.

Other Accounting Policies: 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of U.S. Treasury bills, certificates of 
deposit, money market funds, and all other short-term investments available 
for current operations with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time 
of purchase. Cash equivalents that are part of the University’s investment 
portfolio and assets whose use is limited by bond indenture are reported as 
investments and included in Note 6 and Note 10, respectively. 

Investments are stated at fair value. Net appreciation (depreciation) in the 
fair value of investments, which consists of the realized gains or losses and 
the unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on those investments, is shown in 
the consolidated statements of activities. Realized gains and losses upon the 
sale of investments are calculated using the specific identification method 
and trade date.

Alternative investment holdings and certain other limited partnership 
interests are invested in both publicly traded and privately owned 
securities. The fair values of private investments are based on estimates and 
assumptions of the general partners or partnership valuation committees 
in the absence of readily determinable market values. Such valuations 
generally reflect discounts for illiquidity and consider variables such as 
financial performance of investments, recent sales prices of investments,  
and other pertinent information.

The University applies the provision of FASB ASC 820, Fair Value 
Measurements, which defines fair value as the exchange price that would 
be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the 
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value 
and the primary valuation methodologies used by the University for 
financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The three 
levels of inputs are as follows:

• Level I – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities.

• Level II – Inputs other than level I that are observable, either directly 
or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted 
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable 
or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the 
same term of the assets or liabilities.

• Level III – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no 
market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets 
or liabilities. Level III investments are valued by the University based 

Note 1. (continued)

upon valuation information received from the relevant entity, which 
may include last trade information, third-party appraisals of real estate, 
or valuations prepared by custodians for assets held in trusts by other 
trustees where the University is named as a beneficiary. The University 
may also utilize industry standard valuation techniques, including 
discounted cash flow models. Significant increases or decreases in these 
inputs in isolation may result in a significantly lower or higher fair value 
measurement, respectively.

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is 
based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

The University applies the authoritative guidance contained in FASB 
ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for estimating the 
fair value of investments in investment funds that have calculated Net 
Asset Value (NAV) per share in accordance with FASB ASC 946-
10, Financial Services-Investment Companies (formerly the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Audit and Accounting Guide, 
Investment Companies). According to this guidance, in circumstances in 
which NAV per share of an investment is not determinative of fair value, 
a reporting entity is permitted to estimate the fair value of an investment 
in an investment fund using the NAV per share of the investment (or 
its equivalent) without further adjustment, if the NAV per share of the 
investment is determined in accordance with FASB ASC 946-10 as of 
the reporting entity’s measurement date. Accordingly, the University uses 
the NAV as reported by the money managers as a practical expedient to 
determine the fair value of investments in investment funds which (a) do 
not have a readily determinable fair value and (b) either have the attributes 
of an investment fund or prepare their financial statements consistent with 
the measurement principles of an investment fund. At June 30, 2025 and 
2024, the fair value of all such investments in investment funds has been 
determined by using NAV as a practical expedient, adjusted for capital calls, 
distributions, and significant known valuation changes, if any, of its related 
portfolio.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first in, first out) or market.

Property, plant, and equipment, including collections of works of art 
and historical treasures, are stated at cost or fair value at the date of 
contribution, plus the estimated value of any associated legal retirement 
obligations, less accumulated depreciation, computed on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful or component lives of the assets (equipment 
and library books useful lives ranging from four to 10 years and buildings 
component lives ranging from five to 50 years). Equipment is removed from 
the records at the time of disposal. The University records contributions of 
long-lived assets in net assets without donor restrictions, when the asset is 
placed in service.

The University determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease 
at inception of a contract. A contract is determined to be or contain a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of identified property, 
plant, or equipment (an identified asset) in exchange for consideration.  
The University determines these assets are leased because the University 
has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefit from and 
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The University determines 
lease classification as operating or finance at the lease commencement 

date. Operating leases where the University is the lessee are included in 
right-of-use assets-operating leases and operating lease obligations on 
the consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases as a lessee are included in 
property, plant, and equipment, net and finance lease obligations on the 
consolidated balance sheets. Right-of-use assets represent the right to use 
an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the 
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease, measured on a 
discounted basis. At lease inception, the lease liability is measured at the 
present value of the lease payments over the lease term. For operating 
leases, the right-of-use asset equals the lease liability adjusted for any initial 
direct costs, prepaid or deferred rent, and lease incentives. For the initial 
and subsequent measurement of all lease liabilities, the discount rate is 
based on the rate implied within the lease or is based on the University’s 
incremental borrowing rate using a period comparable with the lease term. 
The lease term will include options to extend or to terminate the lease that 
the University is reasonably certain to exercise. Operating lease expense 
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Interest expense 
is recognized as a component of the lease payment for finance leases. The 
University’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value 
guarantees or restrictive covenants. Rental income arising from operating 
leases as a lessor is included in operating revenue within sales, services, and 
other revenues in the consolidated statements of activities.

The University’s split interest agreements with donors consist primarily 
of gift annuities, unitrusts, pooled income funds, and life estates. For 
irrevocable agreements where the University is the trustee, assets 
contributed are included in the University’s investments and stated at 
fair value. Contribution revenue is recognized at the date each trust is 
established after recording liabilities for the actuarially determined present 
value of the estimated future payments to be made to the beneficiaries. 
The actuarial liability is discounted at an appropriate risk-adjusted rate 
at the inception of each agreement and the applicable actuarial mortality 
tables. Discount rates on split interest agreements range from 2.2% to 
7.5%. The liabilities are adjusted during the terms of the trusts for changes 
in the fair value of the assets, accretion of discounts, and other changes in 
the estimates of future benefits. The valuation follows generally accepted 
actuarial methods and is based on the requirements of FASB ASC 958. 

The 2012 Individual Annuity Mortality Basic Table (without margin) for 
Males and Females with Projection Scale G2 was used in the valuations. 
For split interest agreements related to the state of Washington, the 
University holds a Certificate of Exemption issued by the state of 
Washington’s Office of Insurance Commissioner to issue charitable gift 
annuities. The University has been in compliance with Revised Code of 
Washington 48.38.010(6) throughout the time period covered by the 
consolidated financial statements.

The University self-insures at varying levels for unemployment, disability, 
workers’ compensation, property losses, certain health care plans, cyber 
liability, medical malpractice professional liability, and certain ancillary and 
personal lines of coverage; and obtains coverage through a captive insurance 
company for general liability, auto liability, directors and officers liability, 
employment practices liability, educator legal liability, sexual molestation 
liability, neurodegenerative injury liability, medical malpractice professional 
liability, and certain litigation defense responsibilities. Insurance 
is purchased to cover liabilities above self-insurance limits. Where 
appropriate, estimates of retained exposures are reserved and accrued for 
within self insurance reserves on the consolidated balance sheets. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. (continued)

The University has recorded conditional asset retirement obligations 
associated with the legally required removal and disposal of certain 
hazardous materials, primarily asbestos, present in its facilities. When 
an asset retirement obligation is identified, the University records the 
fair value of the obligation as a liability. The fair value of the obligation 
is also capitalized as property, plant, and equipment and then amortized 
over the estimated remaining useful life of the associated asset. The fair 
value of the conditional asset retirement obligation is estimated using a 
probability weighted, discounted cash flow model. The present value of 
future estimated cash flows is calculated using the credit adjusted interest 
rate applicable to the University in order to determine the fair value of 
the conditional asset retirement obligations. For the years ended June 30, 
2025 and 2024, the University recognized accretion expense related to 
conditional asset retirement obligations of approximately $8,392,000 and 

$7,981,000, respectively. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the 
University settled asset retirement obligations of approximately $916,000 
and $1,368,000, respectively. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, included 
in the consolidated balance sheets are asset retirement obligations of 
$174,300,000 and $166,536,000, respectively.

The University recognizes tuition and fees revenue on a straight-line 
basis over each academic session based on gross price, net of explicit price 
concessions such as scholarships, discounts, and waivers (“Financial aid”), 
as displayed in the consolidated statements of activities in student tuition 
and fees. Given the timing of each year’s academic sessions, nearly all 
performance obligations are satisfied by the University within the fiscal year. 
Tuition and fees revenue is derived from degree programs and executive 
and continuing education programs. Financial aid is awarded to students 
based on need and merit. Financial aid does not include payments made to 
students for services rendered to the University. 

Financial aid for the year ended June 30, 2025, which is included in student tuition and fees on the consolidated statement of activities, consists of the 
following (in thousands):

Undergraduate Graduate Total

Institutional scholarships $489,143 $226,596 $715,739 

Endowed scholarships 52,162 24,165 76,327 

External financial aid 37,503 17,373 54,876 

Total $578,808 $268,134 $846,942 

Financial aid for the year ended June 30, 2024, which is included in student tuition and fees on the consolidated statement of activities, consists of the 
following (in thousands):

Undergraduate Graduate Total

Institutional scholarships $486,829 $215,285 $702,114 

Endowed scholarships 43,943 19,432 63,375 

External financial aid 42,520 18,803 61,323 

Total $573,292 $253,520 $826,812 

Room and board revenues are included as part of auxiliary enterprises, 
however the revenue recognition process mirrors that for tuition and fees. 
Each of these items is supported by separate contracts entered into between 
the University and the individual student. Tuition and fees and room 
and board revenues are recognized as operating revenue in the period in 
which the University satisfies its performance obligations to its students. 
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct 
good or service to the customer and is the unit of accounting in ASC 
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The University’s performance 
obligations are to provide education to the student and, in certain instances, 
other performance obligations such as room and board. The value that is 
recognized for each performance obligation is set forth in publicly available 
University price lists, which the University believes approximates the 

stand-alone selling price, and is codified in the individual contracts with 
each student. Individual contracts for tuition and fees and room and board 
display the transaction price on a stand-alone basis for each service to be 
provided to each specific student. Additionally, the contract will contain the 
price adjustment in the form of financial aid grants that are being awarded 
to the student. 

The timing(s) of billings, cash collections, and revenue recognition results in 
accounts receivable and deposits and deferred revenue on the consolidated 
statements of financial position. Receivables are recognized only to the 
extent that the University has an unconditional right to consideration to 
which it is entitled in exchange for goods and services transferred to the 
student. Receipts received in advance of goods and services performed are 
recorded as deposits and deferred revenue.

Note 1. (continued)

Sponsored research agreements are primarily considered non-exchange 
transactions which are recognized in contracts and grants revenue on the 
consolidated statements of activities as the associated barriers are overcome, 
which generally is as allowable expenditures under such agreements are 
incurred. Non-exchange agreements are considered conditional if the terms 
of the agreement include both a right of return/release of assets received/
promised and a barrier. Any funding received in advance of expenditure is 
recorded as deferred revenue. For sponsored research agreements considered 
to be exchange transactions, revenues are recognized as performance 
obligations are satisfied, which in most cases mirrors the timing of when 
related costs are incurred. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the 
University recognized approximately $176,000,000 and $170,000,000 of 
private contracts and grants revenue in contributions on the consolidated 
statements of activities.

Net assets include contributions to the University and its various schools 
and departments. The University has determined that any donor-imposed 
restrictions of contributions for current or developing programs and 
activities are generally met within the operating cycle of the University and 
therefore, the University’s policy is to record these net assets as without 
donor restrictions. Internally designated net assets are those which have 
been appropriated by the Board of Trustees or designated by management, 
and reflected in net assets without donor restrictions. 

The University receives federal reimbursement for a portion of the costs 
of its facilities and equipment used in organized sponsored research. 
The federal Office of Management and Budget establishes principles 
for determining such reimbursable costs and requires conformity of the 
lives and methods used for federal cost reimbursement accounting and 
financial reporting purposes. The University’s policies and procedures are in 
conformity with these principles.

Unconditional contributions from donors, including contributions 
receivable (unconditional promises to give), are recorded as revenues 
in the year received. Non-financial contributions are recorded at fair 
value using quoted market prices, market prices for similar assets, 
independent appraisals or appraisals performed by University management. 
Contributions receivable are reported at their discounted value using credit-
adjusted borrowing rates and an allowance for amounts estimated to be 
uncollectible is provided. Donor-restricted contributions, which are received 
and either spent or deemed spent within the same year, are reported as 
revenue without donor restrictions. The presence of both a performance 
barrier and a right of return make a contribution conditional. Conditional 
promises to give are not recognized until specified obligations or barriers, 
such as milestones or performance targets, are met.

Contributions of long-lived assets with no donor-imposed time restrictions 
are reported as revenue without donor restrictions in the year received. 
Contributions restricted to the acquisition or construction of long-lived 
assets or subject to other time or purpose restrictions are reported as 
revenue with donor restrictions. The donor-restricted net assets resulting 
from these contributions are released to net assets without donor 

restrictions when the donor-imposed restrictions are fulfilled, or the assets 
are placed in service. Contributions received for endowment investment are 
held in perpetuity and recorded as revenue with donor restrictions.

Health care services revenues include the net patient service revenues 
associated with the Health System. Health care services revenue is reported 
at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the organization 
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts 
are due from patients, third-party payors, government programs, and others 
and include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments 
due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the 
Health System bills patients and third-party payors several days after the 
services are performed or the patient is discharged. Revenue is recognized 
as performance obligations are satisfied. Health care services revenues also 
include the revenues associated with the professional services agreement 
with the County of Los Angeles. 

The majority of the Health System services are rendered to patients with 
commercial or managed care insurance, or under the federal Medicare 
and California State Medi-Cal programs. Reimbursement from these 
various payors is based on a combination of prospectively determined rates 
per discharge, per diem payments, discounted charges, and reimbursed 
costs. Amounts received under the Medicare program are subject to 
retroactive settlements based on review and final determination by program 
intermediaries or their agents. The gross charges may be reduced by 
explicit price concessions, which include contractual adjustments based on 
agreements with third-party payors, or implicit price concessions provided 
to uninsured patients. Provisions for contractual adjustments and retroactive 
settlements related to these payors are accrued on an estimated basis in the 
period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as 
additional information becomes known or as final settlements  
are determined.

Net patient service revenue is recorded over time during the period these 
performance obligations are satisfied and at the determined transaction 
price, which represents the estimated net realizable amounts due from 
patients, third-party payors, and others for health care services rendered. 
Estimated net realizable amounts represent amounts due, net of implicit 
and explicit price concessions. Implicit price concessions are based on 
management’s assessment of expected net collections considering economic 
conditions, historical experience, trends in health care coverage, and other 
collection indicators. Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over 
time is recognized based on actual charges incurred in relation to total 
expected charges. The University believes this method provides a faithful 
depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance 
obligation based on the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation. Generally, 
performance obligations satisfied over time relate to patients in our 
hospitals receiving inpatient acute care or patients receiving care in our 
outpatient centers. The University measures the performance obligation 
from admission into the hospital or commencement of an outpatient 
service, to the point when it is no longer required to provide services to that 
patient, which is generally at the time of discharge or completion of the 
outpatient services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. (continued)

Sales, services, and other revenue includes revenues from University 
pharmacies and student clinics. The University recognizes revenue as 
it provides pharmaceutical products and consultative services to the 
community (students, faculty, staff, retired employees, and alumni in the 
broader Los Angeles market). The transaction price is the amount the 
University expects to be entitled to in exchange for the products provided 
(either published rates available on the University pharmacy websites or 
agreed-upon rates from third-party payors). Retail pharmacy sales revenue 
is recognized at a point in time when the pharmaceutical is provided to the 
patient, and consultative services revenue, although the patient benefits over 
time from the University, is also recognized at a point in time as the services 
are provided to the patient on the same day. This is due to consultative 
services being outpatient in nature, and thus, all services are provided on the 
same day. 

Auxiliary enterprise revenue includes multiple revenue streams which are 
included in the consolidated statements of activities, and reported as net 
assets without donor restrictions. These multiple revenue streams include 
point-of-sale transactions from hospitality, food, beverage, bookstore 
transactions, transportation, and revenue generated from athletics. 
Revenue generated from hospitality, food, beverage, and bookstore goods 
is recognized at a point in time, and the value that is recognized for 
each performance obligation is explicitly listed at each location, which 
the University believes approximates the stand-alone transaction price. 
Transportation revenue is recognized at a point in time and satisfied within 
the fiscal year. The transaction price for revenue related to athletics is 
publicly available on the University ticket office website. The performance 
obligation related to football season tickets is completely satisfied within 
the fiscal year, and any season ticket sales that occur in advance of the next 
fiscal year are recognized as deferred revenue. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications:

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified in order to conform to 
current year presentation on the consolidated statements of activities. These 
reclassifications had no effect on the change in net assets from operating 
activities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

Effective July 1, 2023, the University adopted ASU 2016-13 Financial 
Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses 
on Financial Instruments. ASU 2016-13 replaced the incurred loss 
methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the 
current expected credit loss (CECL) methodology. CECL requires an 
estimate of credit losses for the remaining estimated life of the financial 
asset using historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts and generally applies to financial assets measured 
at amortized cost, including loan receivables and held-to-maturity debt 
securities, and some off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded 
commitments to extend credit. Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
must be presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using an 
allowance for credit losses. This guidance did not have a significant impact 
on the University’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 2.

Liquidity and Availability:

The University’s financial assets available for general expenditure within one year of the date of the consolidated balance sheets are as follows as of  
June 30 (in thousands): 

  June 30, 2025   June 30, 2024

Total assets at year end $19,149,086 $17,332,935 

Less:

Notes and loans receivable due in more than one year (57,884) (47,365)

Pledges receivable due in more than one year or otherwise purpose restricted (575,281) (495,725)

Donor-restricted and donor-restricted endowment funds (6,882,399) (6,221,730)

Board-designated endowment funds (2,069,705) (2,097,693)

Annuities and living trusts (227,674) (223,990)

Inventories, prepaid expenses, and other assets (473,289) (234,003)

Assets whose use is limited by bond indentures (639,447)

Right-of-use assets, operating leases (221,902) (256,268)

Property, plant, and equipment, net (5,521,427) (5,202,922)

Financial assets available at year end for current use $2,480,078 $2,553,239 

The University’s endowment funds consist of donor-restricted and board-designated endowment funds. Income from donor-restricted endowments is 
restricted for specific purposes and therefore, is not available for general expenditure. As described in Note 7, for fiscal years 2025 and 2024, the Board of 
Trustees approved the current distribution of 100% and 102% respectively, of the prior year’s payout, within a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 6% of the 
average market value for the previous 12 calendar quarters. Under the provision of the spending rule, for fiscal years 2025 and 2024, the Board of Trustees 
approved an endowment pool payout of $40.09 and $40.09 a share respectively, for a total spending rule allocation of $395,437,000 and $386,432,000. As 
described in Note 6, the University also has unfunded commitments on alternative investments totaling $1,296,096,000 and $1,420,433,000 for fiscal years 
2025 and 2024, respectively. 

As part of the University’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other 
obligations come due. In addition, the University invests cash in excess of daily requirements in short-term investments. Furthermore, the University has a 
board-designated endowment of $2,069,705,000 and $2,097,693,000 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. Although the University does not intend 
to spend from its board-designated endowment funds other than amounts appropriated for general expenditures as part of its annual budget approval and 
appropriation process, amounts from its board-designated endowment could be made available if necessary. However, both the board-designated endowment 
fund and donor-restricted endowments contain investments with lock-up provisions that reduce the total investments that could be made available (see Note 
6 for disclosures about investments).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 3.

Accounts Receivable:

Accounts receivable are summarized as follows at June 30 (in thousands): 
2025 2024

U.S. Government $175,550 $242,524 

Student and other, net of allowance for credit losses $32,716 (2025), $29,229 (2024) 249,529 233,952 

Patient care 754,098 650,068 

Total $1,179,177 $1,126,544 

The University’s receivables are reviewed and monitored for aging and other factors that affect collectability. The University measures the expected credit 
losses on a collective (pool) basis, separating the accounts receivable by type based on similar risk characteristics. Management quantifies the loss rate based 
on historical collection experience, adjusted for management’s expectations about current and future economic conditions.

The Health System receives payment for services rendered to patients from the federal and state governments under the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs,
privately sponsored managed care programs for which payment is made based on terms defined under formal contracts, and other payors. The Health 
System recognizes that revenues and receivables from the government are significant to its operations, but it does not believe there are significant credit risk
associated with these government agencies. There are no significant concentrations of receivables from any payor that would subject the Health System to 
significant credit risks in the collection of patient accounts receivable. 

Note 4.

Notes and Loans Receivable:

The University is required to disclose the nature of credit risk inherent in the portfolio of financing receivables, its analysis and assessment in arriving at the 
allowance for credit losses, and the changes and reasons for those changes in the allowance for credit losses.

Long-term financing receivables as of June 30, 2025, consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2025

 Financing 
 Receivables, 

 Gross 

 Allowance 
 for Credit 

 Losses Net

Perkins loans $6,770 $6,770 

University student loans 3,058 ($2,124) 934 

Other student loans 13,686 13,686 

Total student loans 23,514 (2,124) 21,390 

Faculty and other loans 55,995 55,995 

Total $79,509 ($2,124) $77,385 

Long-term financing receivables as of June 30, 2024, consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2024

 Financing 
 Receivables, 

 Gross 

 Allowance 
 for Credit 

 Losses Net

Perkins loans $8,980 $8,980 

University student loans 3,729 ($2,361) 1,368 

Other student loans 14,834 14,834 

Total student loans 27,543 (2,361) 25,182 

Faculty and other loans 45,016 45,016 

Total $72,559 ($2,361) $70,198 

Note 4. (continued)

Management regularly assesses the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses by performing ongoing evaluations of the student loan portfolio, including 
such factors as the differing economic risks associated with each loan category, the financial condition of specific borrowers, the economic environment 
in which the borrowers operate, the level of delinquent loans, the value of any collateral, and where applicable, the existence of any guarantees or 
indemnifications. The University’s Perkins loans represent the amounts due from current and former students under the Federal Perkins Loan Program. 
Loans disbursed under the Federal Perkins Loan Program are able to be assigned to the federal government in certain non-repayment situations. In these 
situations, the federal portion of the loan balance is guaranteed. Included in other student loans are loans related to the Federal Health Professional Student 
Loan Program and Loans for Disadvantaged Students. 

Factors also considered by management when performing its assessment of the adequacy of the allowance, in addition to general economic conditions and 
the other factors described above include, but are not limited to, a detailed review of the aging of the student loan receivable detail and a review of the default 
rate by loan category in comparison to prior years. The level of the allowance is adjusted based on the results of management’s analysis. It is the University’s 
policy to write off a loan only when it is deemed to be uncollectible.

The following table illustrates the aging analysis of receivables as of June 30, 2025 (in thousands):

1-60 Days 
Past Due

61-90 Days 
Past Due

> 91 Days 
Past Due Current

 Total Financing 
 Receivables

Perkins loans $463 $54 $802 $5,451 $6,770 

University student loans 158 1,344 1,556 3,058 

Other student loans 533 670 12,483 13,686 

Total student loans 1,154 54 2,816 19,490 23,514 

Faculty and other loans 55,995 55,995 

Total $1,154 $54 $2,816 $75,485 $79,509 

The following table illustrates the aging analysis of receivables as of June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

 1-60 Days 
 Past Due

 61-90 Days 
 Past Due

 > 91 Days 
 Past Due Current

 Total Financing 
 Receivables

Perkins loans $493 $104 $766 $7,617 $8,980 

University student loans 134 7 1,864 1,724 3,729 

Other student loans 1,305 151 208 13,170 14,834 

Total student loans 1,932 262 2,838 22,511 27,543 

Faculty and other loans 45,016 45,016 

Total $1,932 $262 $2,838 $67,527 $72,559 

Considering the other factors already discussed herein, management considers the allowance for credit losses to be prudent and reasonable. Furthermore, the 
University’s allowance is general in nature and is available to absorb losses from any loan category. Management believes that the allowance for credit losses at 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, is adequate to absorb credit losses inherent in the portfolio as of these dates.

As part of the program to attract and retain exemplary faculty and senior staff, the University provides home mortgage financing assistance. Notes receivable 
that are included within accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets amounting to $55,995,000 and $45,016,000 were outstanding as of June 
30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and are collateralized by deeds of trust. No allowance for credit losses has been recorded against these loans based on their 
collateralization and prior collection history. At June 30, 2025 and 2024, there were no amounts past due under the faculty and staff loan program.

Determination of the fair value of notes receivable, which are primarily federally sponsored student loans with U.S. government-mandated interest rates and 
repayment terms, and subject to significant restrictions as to their transfer or disposition, could not be made without incurring excessive costs.

 

s 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 5.

Pledges Receivable:

Unconditional promises are included in the consolidated financial statements as pledges receivable and revenue in the appropriate net asset category. Pledges 
are recorded after discounting using rates ranging from 1% to 6% in order to derive the present value of the future cash flows.

USC Arcadia Hospital is located on property held under a lease from the City of Arcadia, expiring in 2066. The lease provides for an annual rental amount 
of $1. Upon the affiliation with the Health System on July 1, 2022, USCAH extended the ground lease term with the City of Arcadia for 99 years from such 
date and transferred the lease to the Health System. Effective July 1, 2023, the lease was assigned from the Health System back to USCAH. As there is no 
consideration paid to the City of Arcadia for use of the land, the lease is accounted for as a contribution from the City of Arcadia pursuant to ASC 958-605, 
Revenue Recognition. Because the land is restricted for future use in the Health System’s operation of USCAH, restricted contribution revenue — Arcadia 
ground lease was recorded within net assets with donor restrictions on the consolidated statement of activities and pledges receivable was recorded on the 
consolidated balance sheet in connection with the affiliation. Accretion of the discount will be recorded annually until the end of the lease term within 
restricted contribution revenue — Arcadia ground lease on the consolidated statements of activities. Additionally, as the land is utilized by USCAH, the 
donor restriction is satisfied, and the related net assets will be released from restriction on an annual basis. 

Unconditional promises are expected to be realized in the following periods as of June 30 (in thousands):

2025 2024

Less than one year $172,814 $133,191 

One to five years  430,102  336,864 

More than five years  1,318,756  1,337,440 

Less: discount  (1,062,375)  (1,061,551)

Less: allowance (193,160) (195,154)

Total $666,137 $550,790 

Pledges receivable at June 30 have the following restrictions (in thousands): 
2025 2024

Endowment for departmental programs and activities $235,590 $222,410 

Endowment for scholarship 19,523 11,184 

Building construction 152,467 90,907 

Use of land contribution 39,767 42,102 

Departmental programs and activities 218,790 184,187 

Total $666,137 $550,790 

At June 30, 2025 and 2024, conditional pledges not reflected in the consolidated financial statements, which consist primarily of conditional promises to give with 
barriers to entitlement, were $97,611,000 and $55,374,000, respectively. When conditional promises to give become unconditional, they are recorded as revenues.

Note 6.

Investments:

Investments consist of the following at June 30 (in thousands): 
2025 2024

Equities $2,004,621 $1,957,847 

Fixed income securities 681,266 740,239 

Alternative investments:

Hedge funds 2,911,371 2,545,386 

Private capital 3,185,577 2,858,213 

Real estate and other 704,745 600,515 

Assets held by other trustees 148,267 148,226 

Total $9,635,847 $8,850,426 

Note 6. (continued)

The following table summarizes the levels of financial instruments carried at fair value as defined by the ASC 820 valuation hierarchy defined previously, for 
the year ended June 30, 2025 (in thousands):

Level I Level II Level III NAV Total

Investments:

Equities $1,086,490 $559,866 $15,414 $342,851 $2,004,621 

Fixed income securities 400,649 280,030 587 681,266 

Hedge funds 2,911,371 2,911,371 

Private capital 3,185,577 3,185,577 

Real estate and other 5,573 22,166 677,006 704,745 

Assets held by other trustees 148,267 148,267 

Total  1,492,712  839,896  186,434  7,116,805  9,635,847 

Other instruments held at Level III

Gift annuity, trust receivable, and charitable remainder trusts  1,540  1,540 

Non-contributory defined split-dollar life insurance arrangement  32,635  32,635 

Total  34,175  34,175 

Total financial instruments $1,492,712 $839,896 $220,609 $7,116,805 $9,670,022 

The following table summarizes the levels of financial instruments carried at fair value as defined by the ASC 820 valuation hierarchy defined previously, for 
the year ended June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Level I Level II Level III NAV Total

Investments:

Equities $1,692,264 $68 $15,414 $250,101 $1,957,847 

Fixed income securities 408,312 331,567 360 740,239 

Hedge funds 2,545,386 2,545,386 

Private capital 2,858,213 2,858,213 

Real estate and other 516 21,532 578,467 600,515 

Assets held by other trustees 148,226 148,226 

Total  2,101,092  331,635  185,532  6,232,167  8,850,426 

Other instruments held at Level III

Gift annuity, trust receivable, and charitable remainder trusts  1,546  1,546 

Non-contributory defined split-dollar life insurance arrangement  32,215  32,215 

Total  33,761  33,761 

Total financial instruments $2,101,092 $331,635 $219,293 $6,232,167 $8,884,187 

Other instruments held at level III are recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets for years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 6. (continued)

The following table summarizes the University’s level III reconciliation for the year ended June 30, 2025 (in thousands):

Beginning 
Balance Purchases

Sales and 
Maturities

Realized  
Gain/(Loss)

Unrealized 
Gain/(Loss)

Transfers  
In

Transfers  
Out

Ending 
Balance

Investments:

Equities $15,414 $15,414 

Fixed income securities 360 $33,127 ($32,900)  587 

Real estate and other 21,532 2,050 (1,350) ($602) ($39) $575  22,166 

Assets held by other trustees 148,226 (2,855) (226) 3,122  148,267 

Total  185,532  35,177  (37,105)  (828)  3,083  575  186,434 

Other instruments held at Level III

Gift annuity, trust receivable, 
and charitable remainder trusts  1,546  40  (49)  7  9  17  ($30)  1,540 

Non-contributory defined split- 
dollar life insurance arrangement

Total

Total Level III

 32,215 

 33,761 

$219,293 

 40 

$35,217 

 (49)

($37,154)

 7 

($821)

 187 

 196 

$3,279 

 233 

 250 

$825 

 (30)

($30)

 32,635 

 34,175 

$220,609 

The following table summarizes the University’s level III reconciliation of investments for the year ended June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Beginning 
Balance Purchases

Sales and 
Maturities

Realized  
Gain/(Loss)

Unrealized 
Gain/(Loss)

Transfers  
In

Transfers  
Out

Ending 
Balance

Investments:

Equities $15,403 $11 $15,414 

Fixed income securities 15,740 $35,308 ($50,809) $112 9  360 

Real estate and other 17,426 4,101 (3) 2 6  21,532 

Assets held by other trustees 142,340 3,025 $2,861  148,226 

Total  190,909  39,409  (50,812)  114  3,051  2,861  185,532 

Other instruments held at Level III

Gift annuity, trust receivable, 
and charitable remainder trusts  1,505  53  (64)  3  71  11  ($33)  1,546 

Non-contributory defined split- 
dollar life insurance arrangement  31,615  263  337  32,215 

Total  33,120  53  (64)  3  334  348  (33)  33,761 

Total Level III $224,029 $39,462 ($50,876) $117 $3,385 $3,209 ($33) $219,293 

Certain level III assets totaling $185,847,000 and $185,172,000 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, have been valued using unadjusted third-party 
quotations. The primary unobservable inputs for level III fixed income securities as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, which are mainly non-public short-term 
commingled funds, include the applicable return which was 4.91% and 5.62%, applicable duration ranging from 0.20 years and 0.23 years, and applicable 
maturity was 0.70 years and 0.76 years. The weighted average return is 4.91% and 5.62%, the weighted average duration is 0.20 years and 0.76 years, and the 
weighted average maturity is 0.70 years and 0.76 years as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Note 6. (continued)

The fair value of the non-contributory defined split dollar life insurance arrangement is reported at the lower of total premiums paid or cash surrender value 
of the policies, which are considered level III in the fair value hierarchy. The methods described above for level III instruments may produce a fair value that 
may not be indicative of net present value or reflective of future values. While the University believes that its valuation methods are appropriate, the use of 
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value could result in different estimates of fair value at the reporting date. 

The University uses the NAV to determine the fair value of all the underlying investments which (a) do not have a readily determinable fair value and (b) 
prepare their financial statements consistent with the measurement principles of an investment company or have the attributes of an investment company. 

Investment income and gains presented on the consolidated statements of activities contains endowment appreciation utilized to fund the spending rule, 
and investment expenses. Current year investment return reported in non-operating activities is net of external and direct internal investment costs, reduced 
by endowment appreciation utilized to fund the spending rule. The University’s total investment return for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, was 
$1,127,670,000 and $850,322,000, respectively.

The following table lists investments by major category, measured using the NAV practical expedient, for the year ending June 30, 2025 (in thousands): 

Fair Value 
Determined 

Using NAV

Redemption 
Restrictions 
and Terms

Category of 
Investment

Unfunded 
CommitmentsInvestment Strategy Remaining Life   Redemption Terms

Distressed 
Obligation 
Partnerships

U.S. and Non-U.S. 
Distressed Debt  
Securities

 $116  $599 Approximately 1 Year Redemptions are not 
permitted during the life  
of the fund.

Not Applicable

Hedge Funds U.S. and Non-U.S. 
Investments in 
Relative Value,  
Event-Driven,  
Long/Short, 
and Directional 
Strategies

2,911,371 71,532 90% of NAV has 
an open-ended 
life, 5% of NAV 
will be liquidated 
in under 3 years, 
3% of NAV will be 
liquidated between 
4 and 7 years, and 
2% of NAV will be 
liquidated on an 
undetermined basis.

Ranges between monthly 
redemption with 60 
days’ notice, quarterly 
redemption with up to  
185 days’ notice, 
semiannual redemption 
with up to 180 days’ notice,  
and annual redemption 
with up to 120 days’ notice; 
lock ups can be up to  
4 years.

19% of NAV is locked 
up for 3 months or less, 
30% of NAV is locked 
up for 6 months, 7% of 
NAV is locked up for 
9 months, 5% of NAV 
is locked-up for 1 year, 
18% of NAV is locked 
for 2 years, 11% of NAV 
is locked-up for 3 years, 
and 10% is locked up for 
more than 3 years or is 
undetermined.

Natural Resources 
Partnerships

U.S. and Non-U.S. 
Investments in  
Upstream, Midstream, 
and Downstream
Natural Resources 
Investments

363,087 71,651 Approximately  
1 Year

Redemptions are not 
permitted during the life  
of the fund.

Not Applicable

Private Capital 
Partnerships

U.S. and Non-U.S. 
Private Equity and 
Venture Capital 
Investments

2,800,208 868,020 Approximately  
5 Years

Redemptions are not 
permitted during the life  
of the fund.

Not Applicable

Private Real Estate 
Partnerships

U.S. and Non-U.S. 
Real Estate

699,172 284,294 Approximately  
5 Years

Redemptions are not 
permitted during the life  
of the fund.

Not Applicable

Equity Funds U.S. and Non-U.S.  
Equity Securities

342,851 Not Applicable Open-Ended Minimum Monthly None

Total $7,116,805  $1,296,096 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 6. (continued)

The following table lists investments by major category, measured using the NAV practical expedient, for the year ending June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Fair Value 
Determined 

Using NAV

Redemption 
Restrictions 
and Terms

Category of 
Investment

Unfunded 
CommitmentsInvestment Strategy Remaining Life Redemption Terms

Distressed U.S. and Non-U.S.  $1,412  $899 Approximately  Redemptions are not Not Applicable
Obligation Distressed Debt  1 Year permitted during the life  
Partnerships Securities of the fund.

Hedge Funds U.S. and Non-U.S. 2,545,386 39,323 94.6% of NAV has Ranges between monthly 22% of NAV is locked 
Investments in an open-ended life redemption with 60 up for 3 months or 
Relative Value,  and 2.6% of NAV days’ notice, quarterly less, 25% of NAV 
Event-Driven,  will be liquidated redemption with up to 185 is locked up for 6 
Long/Short  in under 2 years, days’ notice, semi annual months, 4% of NAV 
and Directional  and 2.7% of NAV redemption with up to is locked up for 9 
Strategies will be liquidated 120 days’ notice, annual months, 6% of NAV is 

between 4 and 7 redemption with up to  locked-up for 1 year, 
years, and 0.1% will 90 days’ notice, biannual 22% of NAV is locked 
be liquidated on an redemption with 90 days’ for 2 years, 11% of 
undetermined basis. notice; lock ups can be up NAV is locked up for 

to 5 years. 3 years, and 10% is 
locked up for more 
than 3 years.

Natural Resources U.S. and Non-U.S. 520,474 83,884 Approximately  Redemptions are not Not Applicable
Partnerships Investments in 1 Year permitted during the life  

Upstream, Midstream, of the fund.
and Downstream 
Natural Resources 
Investments

Private Capital U.S. and Non-U.S.  2,317,039 965,900 Approximately  Redemptions are not Not Applicable
Partnerships Private Equity and 5 Years permitted during the life  

Venture Capital  of the fund.
Investments

Private Real Estate U.S. and Non-U.S.  597,755 330,427 Approximately  Redemptions are not Not Applicable
Partnerships Real Estate 5 Years permitted during the life  

of the fund.

Equity Funds U.S. and Non-U.S.  250,101 Not Applicable Open-Ended Minimum Monthly None
Equity Securities

Total  $6,232,167  $1,420,433 

Note 7.

Endowment: 

Endowment net assets are subject to the restrictions of gift instruments requiring that the principal be invested in perpetuity and only the income and 
realized gains be utilized for current and future needs. Long-term investment net assets (board-designated endowment funds) have been established 
from restricted contributions whose restrictions have been met and unrestricted contributions which have been designated by the Board of Trustees or 
management for similar purposes as endowment as determined on an annual basis. The University also has a beneficial interest in the net income earned from 
assets which are held and managed by other trustees.

Donor-restricted and board-designated endowment funds are summarized as follows for the year ended June 30, 2025 (in thousands):

Board-Designated 
Endowment Funds 

Donor-Restricted 
Endowment Total

Pooled $1,833,197 $6,642,373 $8,475,570 

Non-pooled 236,508 62,202 298,710 

Total $2,069,705 $6,704,575 $8,774,280 

Donor-restricted and board-designated endowment funds are summarized as follows for the year ended June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Board-Designated 
Endowment Funds 

Donor-Restricted 
Endowment Total

Pooled $1,743,682 $5,937,297 $7,680,979 

Non-pooled 354,011 57,856 411,867 

Total $2,097,693 $5,995,153 $8,092,846 

Pooled investments represent donor-restricted and board-designated endowment funds which have been commingled in a unitized pool (unit value basis) for 
purposes of investment. At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the pool is comprised of cash and cash equivalents (1.43%) and (1.01%), equities (51.74%) and (52.79%), 
fixed income securities (4.06%) and (4.22%), alternative investments (35.06%) and (34.87%), and real estate and other investments (7.71%) and (7.11%), 
respectively. Access to or liquidation from the pool is on the basis of the market value per unit on the preceding monthly valuation date. The unit value at 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, was $913.15 and $840.64, respectively.

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the 
original contribution as of the contribution date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result 
of this interpretation, the University classifies as donor-restricted funds (a) the original value of contributions donated to the endowment, (b) the original 
value of subsequent contributions to the endowment, and (c) accumulations to the endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable 
donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. In accordance with UPMIFA, the University considers various factors in making a 
determination to appropriate or accumulate endowment funds including duration and preservation of the fund, economic conditions, effects of inflation or 
deflation, expected return on the funds, and other economic resources of the University. 
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Note 7. (continued)

Endowment net asset composition by type of funds as of June 30, 2025 (in thousands):
Without Donor 

Restrictions
With Donor 

Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $6,704,575 $6,704,575 

Board-designated endowment funds $2,069,705 2,069,705 

Total $2,069,705 $6,704,575 $8,774,280 

Endowment net asset composition by type of funds as of June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Without Donor 
Restrictions

With Donor 
Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $5,995,153 $5,995,153 

Board-designated endowment funds $2,097,693 2,097,693 

Total $2,097,693 $5,995,153 $8,092,846 

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2025 (in thousands):
Without Donor 

Restrictions
With Donor 

Restrictions Total

Endowment net assets at July 1, 2024 $2,097,693 $5,995,153 $8,092,846 

Total investment return, net 279,545 779,608 1,059,153 

Contributions and transfers (177,852) 184,397 6,545 

Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure (129,681) (254,583) (384,264)

Endowment net assets at June 30, 2025 $2,069,705 $6,704,575 $8,774,280 

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2024 (in thousands):
Without Donor 

Restrictions
With Donor 

Restrictions Total

Endowment net assets at July 1, 2023 $2,026,279 $5,562,800 $7,589,079 

Total investment return, net 173,655 548,247 721,902 

Contributions and transfers 30,504 133,337 163,841 

Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure (132,745) (249,231) (381,976)

Endowment net assets at June 30, 2024 $2,097,693 $5,995,153 $8,092,846 

The portion of endowment funds that are required to be retained in perpetuity and/or for time or purpose either by explicit donor stipulation or by UPMIFA 
as of June 30 (in thousands):

2025 2024

Restricted for scholarship support $1,607,639 $1,417,347 

Restricted for faculty support 1,500,410 1,342,916 

Restricted for program support 3,596,526 3,234,890 

Total endowment assets with donor restrictions $6,704,575 $5,995,153 

Note 7. (continued)

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below the value of the initial and subsequent 
donor contribution amounts (deficit). When donor-restricted endowment fund deficits exist, they are classified as a reduction of net assets with donor 
restrictions. Deficits of this nature exist in various donor-restricted endowment funds, which together have an original value of $11,014,000 and a current 
fair value of $10,847,000 with a deficiency of $167,000 and an original value of $55,346,000 and a current fair value of $53,742,000 with a deficiency of 
$1,604,000 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. These deficits resulted from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred shortly after the investment 
of newly established endowments and authorized appropriation that was deemed prudent. The University has interpreted UPMIFA to permit spending from 
underwater funds in accordance with the prudent measures required under the law. 

The University has adopted endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported 
by its endowment while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of endowment assets. Under these policies, the return objective for the endowment 
assets, measured over a full market cycle, shall be to maximize the return against a blended index, based on the endowment’s target allocation applied to the 
appropriate individual benchmarks. The University expects its endowment funds over time to provide an average rate of return of approximately 7% annually. 
Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount.

To achieve its long-term rate of return objectives, the University relies on a total return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital 
appreciation (realized and unrealized gains) and current yield (interest and dividends). The University targets a diversified asset allocation that places greater 
emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term objectives within prudent risk constraints.

For the 2025 fiscal year, the Board of Trustees approved the current distribution of 100% of the prior year’s payout, within a minimum of 4% and a maximum 
of 6% of the average market value for the previous 12 calendar quarters. Under the provisions of the spending rule, $40.09 was distributed to each endowment 
unit for a total spending rule allocation of $395,437,000. Investment income amounting to $4.64 per endowment unit was earned, totaling $46,312,000, and 
$349,125,000 was appropriated for current operations from cumulative gains of pooled investments. Endowment pool earnings allocated for spending in fiscal 
year 2025 represent 4.67% of the market value of the endowment pool at June 30, 2025.

For the 2024 fiscal year, the Board of Trustees approved the current distribution of 102% of the prior year’s payout, within a minimum of 4 percent and a 
maximum of 6 percent of the average market value for the previous 12 calendar quarters. Under the provisions of the spending rule, $40.09 was distributed to 
each endowment unit for a total spending rule allocation of $386,432,000. Investment income amounting to $4.30 per endowment unit was earned, totaling 
$41,990,000, and $344,442,000 was appropriated for current operations from cumulative gains of pooled investments. Endowment pool earnings allocated for 
spending in fiscal year 2024 represent 5.03% of the market value of the endowment pool at June 30, 2024.

Note 8. 

Property, Plant, and Equipment: 

Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following at June 30 (in thousands): 

2025 2024

Land and improvements $279,075 $245,440 

Buildings and improvements 6,959,950 6,508,207 

Buildings and equipment under finance leases 149,882 113,068 

Equipment 1,622,001 1,439,325 

Library books and collections 489,887 487,864 

Construction-in-progress 676,165 754,814 

10,176,960 9,548,718 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 4,655,533 4,345,796 

Total $5,521,427 $5,202,922 
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Note 9. 

Leases: 

The University is committed to minimum annual lease payments under several long-term non-cancellable operating and finance leases for equipment, 
buildings, and office space expiring at various dates through 2111.

The University has entered into the following lease arrangements:

Finance Leases

These leases consist of various equipment leases and a lease with the Los Angeles Memorial Coliseum Commission (LAMCC) to assume the operations 
of the Los Angeles Memorial Coliseum and Los Angeles Memorial Sports Arena. The lease agreement with the LAMCC expires in 2033, or in 2054, if all 
options are exercised, at which time a second lease agreement with the California Science Center (CSC), an institution of the state of California, commences. 
The lease with the CSC expires in 2111 and the University has assumed that all options will be exercised. Under the terms of both lease agreements for the 
Coliseum, the University is required to make certain capital improvements.

In June 2021, the University entered into a build-to-suit lease agreement for a 101,000-square-foot Class A medical office building and the underlying land. 
The lease commenced on May 23, 2024, and maintains a term of 34 years with five options to renew for five years each. The University may exercise the right 
of first offer at any time between lease commencement and the last day of the 19th lease year. A purchase option period commences on the first day of the 
20th lease year and expires on the last day of the 22nd lease year. The University has a commitment to pay minimum lease payments totaling $327,470,000 
through year 34. Under the lease agreement, the landlord has agreed to contribute $72,000,000 for improvements. The University is responsible for managing 
the construction and development of the new building, which remains in progress as of June 30, 2025. Additionally, landlord construction costs are reflected 
as finance lease obligations as amounts are spent to fund construction. Lease payments made during the construction period are capitalized to the project and 
recorded as construction-in-progress within property, plant, and equipment. Under ASC 842, Leases, and upon project completion, the present value of all 
future lease payments will be recorded as a finance lease obligation.

Operating Leases

The University has various equipment, vehicle, and real estate leases for office space and housing that expire in various years through 2061. These leases 
generally contain renewal options for periods ranging from two years to 10 years and require the University to pay all executory costs (property taxes, 
maintenance, and insurance). The University is not reasonably certain the renewal options will be exercised and has not included them in the terms. Space 
leases contain customary escalation clauses, which are included in annual aggregate minimum rentals. Total operating lease expense for the years ending June 
30, 2025 and 2024, was $74,548,000 and $76,759,000, respectively.

Short-Term Leases

The University has certain leases that are for a period of 12 months or less or contain renewals for periods of 12 months or less. The University does not 
include short-term leases within the consolidated balance sheets since it has elected the practical expedient to exclude these leases from right-of-use assets — 
operating leases and operating lease obligations. Total short-term lease expense included in operating expenses for the year ending June 30, 2025 and 2024 
was $2,221,000 and $2,805,000, respectively. 

Operating Leases - Lessor

The University has various leases in which it is the lessor. The University leases to others portions of certain buildings owned for retail, office, and medical 
office purposes. Leases are generally 10-year terms or less and are classified as operating leases. These leasing arrangements are not material to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Note 9. (continued) 

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30, are as follows (in thousands):
2025 2024

Lease Expense

Finance lease expense

   Amortization of right-of-use assets $4,059 $2,463 

   Interest on lease liabilities  4,568  3,687 

Operating lease expense  74,548  76,759 

Short-term lease expense  2,221  2,805 

Variable lease expense  475  600 

Total $85,871 $86,314 

2025 2024

Other Information

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities

   Finance - Financing cash flows $2,339 $1,224 

   Finance - Operating cash flows  $2,608  $1,763 

   Operating - Operating cash flows  $72,537  $71,922 

Assets obtained in the exchange for lease liabilities

   Finance leases  $67,958  $31,557 

   Operating leases  $37,916  $90,507 

Weighted-average remaining lease term

   Finance leases  60.0 years  78.4 years 

   Operating leases  6.0 years  7.4 years 

Weighted-average discount rate

   Finance leases 4.5% 4.5%

   Operating leases 3.4% 3.1%

Future aggregate minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2025 under finance and operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Future minimum lease payments:  Finance Operating

2026 $7,267 $67,414 

2027 6,919 47,528 

2028 6,966 40,466 

2029 7,041 33,851 

2030 7,118 27,766 

Thereafter 794,134 40,647 

829,445 257,672 

Less: amounts representing interest (585,501) (25,820)

Present value of net minimum lease payments $243,944 $231,852 
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Note 10. 

Bonds Payable and Line of Credit:

Bonds payable and line of credit outstanding as of June 30 (in thousands):
Interest % Maturity 2025 2024

University of Southern California Bonds:

Series 2011 Taxable 5.25 2112 $300,000 $300,000 

   Discount (2,317) (2,343)

Series 2016 Taxable 3.03 2040 722,580 722,580 

   Discount (2,284) (2,443)

Series 2017 Taxable 3.84 2048 402,320 402,320 

   Discount (1,332) (1,390)

Series 2020A Taxable 3.23 2121 320,000 320,000 

   Discount (2,661) (2,689)

Series 2020B Taxable 2.81 2051 308,835 308,835 

   Discount (1,120) (1,165)

Series 2021A Taxable 2.95 2052 400,000 400,000 

   Discount (1,303) (1,353)

Series 2023 Taxable 4.98 2053 500,000 500,000 

   Discount (1,765) (1,829)

Series 2025 Revenue Bonds 5.00 2036 200,000 

5.00 2056 400,000 

  Premium 62,975

California Statewide Communities Development Authority,  
Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 4.25 - 5.00 2048 227,660 232,860

  Premium 5,965 6,229 

Total $3,837,553 $3,179,612 

Principal payment requirements relating to bonds and notes payable, after giving effect to refunding, for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are 
approximately: 2026 $5,465,000; 2027 $5,750,000; 2028 $6,040,000; 2029 $6,480,000; 2030 $6,710,000; thereafter $3,750,950,000.

Interest payments for fiscal year 2025 and 2024 were $114,340,000 and $101,334,000, respectively. Separately, a net of $6,371,000 interest expense and 
interest earned on the Series 2025 Bonds was accrued and capitalized for fiscal year 2025. No interest was capitalized for fiscal year 2024.

The University maintains multiple standby letters of credit carrying an aggregate value of $19,471,000 and $15,470,000 during the years ended  
June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The designated beneficiaries include various insurance companies and the Employment Development Department  
for the State of California.

In April 2025, the University issued $600,000,000 in par value tax-exempt Series 2025 Revenue Bonds via the California Educational Facilities Authority 
(CEFA). The bonds were issued with an average coupon rate of 5% and final maturity on October 1, 2055. The bonds were issued at a premium for gross 
total proceeds of $665,146,000. The University will use the proceeds of the bonds to (a) finance and/or refinance the costs of the acquisition, construction, 
improvement, rehabilitation, and/or equipping by the University of higher educational and health care facilities, (b) fund capitalized interest on the bonds, 
and (c) pay costs of issuance. The bonds constitute an unsecured general obligation of the University.

In April 2025, the University put in place a new $250,000,000 taxable commercial paper program. Under the program, the University may issue a maximum 
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $250,000,000 outstanding at any one time. The obligation of the University to pay the principal and interest on the 
notes is not supported or insured by any liquidity facility or other credit enhancement. New short-term credit ratings were provided by Moody’s at “P-1”, and 
S&P Global at “A-1+”. The notes constitute a general, unsecured obligation of the University. 

Note 10. (continued) 

The University has a revolving line of credit with a bank with a maturity date of November 30, 2025. The committed size of the revolving line of credit 
is $500,000,000. The line of credit accrues interest based on the “Secured Overnight Financing Rate” (SOFR) and contains a fee on the unused portion. 
The line of credit contains certain restrictive covenants which include a minimum credit rating of “A” and “A2” from Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s, 
respectively, as well as a minimum total net assets of $5,500,000,000. The University was in compliance with these covenants during fiscal years ending June 
30, 2025 and 2024. 

In December 2018, USCAH issued $251,770,000 of California Statewide Communities Development Authority Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(Series 2018 Bonds). Pursuant to the loan agreement and indenture for the Certificate of Bonds, USCAH must comply with certain restrictive financial and 
non-financial covenants. 

In April 2024, the University and USCAH executed a Master Trust Indenture (MTI) substitution transaction for the outstanding Series 2018 Bonds totaling 
$232,860,000. The bonds became secured by a new note issued by the University and USCAH as members of a new obligated group under the new MTI. 
The new note was delivered in replacement of the original Arcadia obligated group note, as permitted by the original Arcadia MTI. The University and 
USCAH are jointly and severally obligated to make debt service payments on the new note. The University’s obligations under the note are on parity with 
the general obligation of USC to make debt service payments on any and all of its unsecured obligations. As a result of this transaction, certain restrictive 
covenants and requirements were eliminated on the Series 2018 Bonds.

As of June 30, 2025, the University had unspent bond proceeds related to the Series 2025 Revenue Bonds. These proceeds are designated for construction 
and improvement of facilities, and are held at the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as bond trustee, and consist of cash equivalents of 
$58,798,000 and investments of $580,649,000 in fixed income securities that are considered Level I under the fair value hierarchy. These amounts are 
reflected as assets whose use is limited by bond indenture on the consolidated balance sheet.

Note 11. 

Retirement Benefits: 

Retirement benefits for eligible University employees are provided through the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association, The Vanguard Group, AIG Sun 
America (frozen July 2007), Fidelity Investments, and Prudential Financial (frozen April 2016). Under these defined contribution plans, the University and 
plan participants make contributions to purchase individual, fixed, or variable annuities equivalent to retirement benefits earned, or to participate in a variety 
of mutual funds. Under the University Retirement Savings Program, the University makes a 5% non-elective contribution to all eligible employees and also 
matches dollar for dollar the first 5% of the employees’ contributions. Newly hired employees on or after January 1, 2012, have the University non-elective 
contribution subject to a four-year vesting schedule. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2019, are subject to a one-year waiting period counted under the 
elapsed time method. Benefits commence at the earliest of age 59 ½, termination of employment, or retirement. Pre-retirement survivor death benefits are 
also provided. Charges to operating expenses for the University’s share of costs were approximately $258,187,000 and $240,937,000 during the years ended 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Retirement benefits for employees of USC Verdugo Hills Hospital, Las Vegas Culinary Health Center, and University Physician Associates are provided by 
a defined contribution 401(k) plan through Fidelity Investments. In December 2021, University Physicians Associates moved to the University Retirement 
Savings Program. Until August 2011, the Keck and Norris hospital employees covered under a collective bargaining agreement with California Nurses 
Association were also covered under this 401(k) plan. Until January 2017, the National Union of Healthcare Workers (NUHW) employees at Keck and 
Norris hospitals were also covered under this 401(k) plan. Under the 401(k) defined contribution plan, participants make contributions to purchase a variety 
of mutual funds. 

Effective January 2017, the University contribution to the 401(k) plan is made on a paycheck-by-paycheck basis. Prior to this, the University made its 
contribution in a lump sum following the end of the calendar year and matched 100% of the participants’ contributions up to 4% of eligible earnings, 
providing the participant was employed on the last day of the calendar year. In addition, the University made a 1% retiree medical benefit contribution to all 
NUHW participants who were both employed on the last day of the calendar year and worked 1,500 hours in that calendar year. The University contribution 
is subject to a five-year vesting schedule, although previously credited years prior to the various acquisitions made by the University have been carried 
over. Benefits commence at the earliest of age 59 ½, termination of employment, or retirement; however, retiree medical benefit contributions may not be 
withdrawn until disabled or after age 59 ½ regardless of employment status. Pre-retirement survivor death benefits are also provided.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 11. (continued)

Retirement benefits for non-exempt University employees are provided through a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan, the USC Support Staff 
Retirement Plan (“Plan”). The following table sets forth the Plan’s funded status at June 30 (in thousands):

Changes in Projected Benefit Obligation 2025 2024

Benefit obligation at end of prior year $136,290 $134,132 

Interest cost 7,450 7,093 

Actuarial (gain) loss (230) 317 

Benefits paid (4,983) (5,252)

$138,527 $136,290 

Changes in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at the end of prior years

2025 

$133,854 

2024

$132,001 

Actual return on plan assets 9,477 6,255 

Employer contribution 3,200 850 

Benefits paid (4,983)

$141,548 

(5,252)

$133,854 

Reconciliation of Funded Status 2025 2024

Accumulated benefit obligation at end of year ($138,527) ($136,290)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year (138,527) (136,290)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 141,548 133,854 

Funded status $3,021 ($2,436)

Other Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2025 2024

Interest cost $7,450 $7,093 

Expected return on plan assets  (6,353)  (6,590)

Amortization of net loss 1,132 1,186 

Total benefit cost $2,229 $1,689 

Amounts Recognized in the Statement of Financial Position 2025 2024

Noncurrent assets $3,021 $0 

Accrued liabilities $0 ($2,436)

Amounts Not Yet Recognized as Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2025 2024

Net Loss $18,331 $22,817 

Changes in the Net Reduction to Without Donor Restrictions 2025 2024

Net (gain) loss ($3,354) $652

Amortization of net (gain)  (1,132)  (1,186)

Total benefit cost ($4,486) ($534)

The net (gain)/loss and prior service cost for the Plan that will be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $546,000 
and $0, respectively.

Note 11. (continued)

The Plan was amended to freeze benefit accruals for all remaining active union participants effective December 23, 2009, and to provide full vesting for those 
participants. On April 5, 2019, a payment of $108,957,844 was made to purchase annuities for 1,720 retirees and beneficiaries who were receiving monthly 
benefit payments from the Plan, and thereby transferring the responsibility for payment of the pension benefits to the insurance company. The effect of the 
settlement was determined based on a measurement date of March 31, 2019,  in accordance with ASC 715, Compensation-Retirement Benefits. As a result 
of the annuity purchase, 44.15% of the benefit obligation for the Plan was settled, and a pro rata portion of the net actuarial loss was recognized in expense, 
resulting in additional pension expense during fiscal 2019 of $33,781,181. 

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for year ended June 30:

2025 2024

Discount rate 5.60% 5.40%

Expected return on plan assets 4.80% 5.10%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net year-end benefit obligations at June 30:

2025 2024

Discount rate 5.65% 5.60%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A

Plan Assets 

In managing the Plan assets, the University’s objective is to be a responsible fiduciary while minimizing financial risk. Plan assets include a diversified mix of 
fixed income securities and equity securities across a range of sectors and levels of capitalization to maximize the long−term return for a prudent level of risk. 
In addition to producing a reasonable return, the investment strategy seeks to minimize the volatility in the University’s expense and cash flow. The target 
allocation for pension benefit plan assets is 25% equity securities and 75% fixed income securities.

As described in Note 1, the University uses a hierarchy to report invested assets, including the invested assets of the Plan. Following is a description of the 
valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

Fair Value

The Plan’s interest in collective trusts is valued based on the net asset value information reported by the investment advisor. The fund is valued at the normal 
close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange every day the exchange is open (a “Business Day”). Equity securities are valued at the official closing price 
of, or the last reported sales price on, the exchange or market on which such securities are traded, as of the close of business on the day the securities are being 
valued or at the last available bid price. In cases where equity securities are traded on more than one exchange, the securities are valued on the exchange or 
market determined to be the most representative market, which may be either a securities exchange or the over-the-counter market. Short-term investments 
are carried at fair value.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. 
Furthermore, while the Plan believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies 
or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

At June 30, 2025, a summary of fair value measurements by level for Plan investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis is as follows (in thousands):

Level I Level II Level III NAV Total

Collective Trust Funds:

Short-term investment fund $3,860 $3,860 

Equity securities 31,353 31,353 

Fixed income securities 106,335 106,335 

Total $141,548 $141,548 
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Note 11. (continued)

At June 30, 2024, a summary of fair value measurements by level for investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis is as follows (in thousands):

 Level I  Level II  Level III  NAV  Total 

Collective Trust Funds:

Short-term investment fund $936 $936 

Equity securities

Fixed income securities

Total

28,433 

104,485 

$133,854 

28,433 

104,485 

$133,854 

Allocation of Assets

The year-end asset allocation, which approximates the weighted-average allocation for the Plan assets as of June 30 and in comparison to target percentages 
for each asset category, is as follows:

Asset Category
Actual at

June 30, 2025
Target at

June 30, 2025
Actual at

June 30, 2024
Target at

June 30, 2024

Short-term investment fund 3.0 % 0.0% 0.0 % 0.0%

Equity securities 22.0 % 20.0% 22.0 % 20.0%

Fixed income securities 75.0 % 80.0% 78.0 % 80.0%

Total 100.0 % 100.0% 100.0 % 100.0%

The portfolio is evaluated annually or when the actual allocation percentages are plus or minus 2% of the stated target allocation percentages. Changes 
in policy may be indicated as a result of changing market conditions or anticipated changes in the pension plan’s needs. Prohibited transactions include 
investment transactions prohibited by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and speculative investments including commodities or 
unregistered stock without specific prior approval by the University’s Investment Committee.

Contributions

Contributions of $1,200,000 are expected to be made during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026, in order to satisfy minimum funding requirements for 
the plan. The University may make additional discretionary contributions to the pension plan during the next fiscal year, although the total amount of such 
contributions, if any, has not yet been determined.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments: 

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

2026 $7,333 

2027 $8,072 

2028 $8,728 

2029 $9,264 

2030 $9,682 

2031-2035 $51,689 

Note 12.

Net Assets: 

The University’s net assets as of June 30, 2025, include the following (in thousands):
 Year Ended 

 June 30, 2025

Nature of Specific Net Assets
Without Donor  

Restrictions
With Donor  

Restrictions
Total

Net Assets

Undesignated $1,542,122 $1,542,122 

Donor-restricted $177,824 177,824 

Pledges 58,325 607,812 666,137 

Unexpended endowment income 539,336 539,336 

Annuity and living trusts 167,076 167,076 

Donor-restricted endowment funds 6,704,575 6,704,575 

Board-designated endowment funds 2,069,705 2,069,705 

Debt service funds 10,764 10,764 

Invested in plant 641,985 641,985 

Total $4,862,237 $7,657,287 $12,519,524 

The University’s net assets as of June 30, 2024, include the following (in thousands):
 Year Ended 

 June 30, 2024

Nature of Specific Net Assets
Without Donor 

Restrictions
With Donor  

Restrictions
Total

Net Assets

Undesignated $1,546,863 $1,546,863 

Donor-restricted $226,577 226,577 

Pledges 28,972 521,818 550,790 

Unexpended endowment income 473,799 473,799 

Annuity and living trusts 157,630 157,630 

Donor-restricted endowment funds 5,995,153 5,995,153 

Board-designated endowment funds 2,097,693 2,097,693 

Debt service funds 138,682 138,682 

Invested in plant 477,171 477,171 

Total $4,763,180 $6,901,178 $11,664,358 
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Note 13.

Functional Expenses: 

Expenses are presented below by functional classification in accordance with the overall service mission of the University. Each functional classification 
displays all expenses related to the underlying operations by natural classification. Depreciation expense is allocated based on square footage occupancy. 
Interest expense on external debt is allocated to the functional categories which have benefited from the proceeds of the external debt. Plant operations and 
maintenance represents space-related costs which are allocated to the functional categories directly and/or based on the square footage occupancy. 

For the year ended June 30, 2025, functional expense consists of the following (in thousands):

Academic, 
Health Care, and Support Fundraising Year Ended
Student Services Services Activities June 30, 2025

Compensation $3,030,666 $482,538 $60,380 $3,573,584 

Fringe benefits 782,341 137,918 19,931 940,190 

Operating expenses 1,944,670 589,003 22,329 2,556,002 

Cost of goods sold 119,758 42,329 162,087 

Travel 51,694 35,524 1,668 88,886 

Allocations:

  Depreciation 267,469 76,149 2,945 346,563 

  Interest 44,270 63,123 107,393 

  Plant operations and maintenance 217,278 (220,903) 3,625 

Total $6,458,146 $1,205,681 $110,878 $7,774,705 

For the year ended June 30, 2024, functional expense consists of the following (in thousands):

Academic, 
Health Care, and 
Student Services

Support
Services

Fundraising
Activities

Year Ended
June 30, 2024

Compensation $2,900,715 $464,538 $56,244 $3,421,497 

Fringe benefits 730,344 132,048 18,564 880,956 

Operating expenses 1,856,323 672,850 23,085 2,552,258 

Cost of goods sold 112,170 45,987 6 158,163 

Travel 53,788 30,746 1,543 86,077 

Allocations:

  Depreciation 264,957 83,577 1,858 350,392 

  Interest 48,019 70,330 118,349 

  Plant operations and maintenance 199,596 (202,648) 3,052 

Total $6,165,912 $1,297,428 $104,352 $7,567,692 

Note 14.

Commitments and Contingencies:

Contractual commitments for educational plant amounted to approximately 
$245,470,000 and $310,498,000 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. It 
is expected that the resources to satisfy these commitments will be provided 
from certain unexpended plant net assets, anticipated contributions, and/or 
debt proceeds.

Pursuant to the affiliation agreement, the Health System committed 
to investing $200,700,000 in USCAH’s equipment, infrastructure, and 
services and, as such, it reimburses USCAH’s capital expenditures as they 
are incurred. $27,469,000 and $32,039,000 were expended by the Health 
System for the period ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Under the Medical Services Affiliation Agreement dated July 1, 2019 
(MSAA) between the University and the Los Angeles County Department 
of Health Services (the “County”), the USC Keck School of Medicine 
provides clinical and teaching services at LA General Medical Center 
(“LA General”). On March 29, 2023, the University gave notice to the 
County that it was invoking its rights to cease providing services at LA 
General effective July 1, 2024. By providing this notice, the University 
expressed intent to initiate negotiations over a new agreement that would 
address deficiencies in the current MSAA. The parties commenced a formal 
negotiation process, in the course of which the University agreed to LA 
General’s request that the term of the MSAA be extended by one year to 
July 1, 2025. On February 14, 2024, the County notified the University of 
its intent to substantially reduce the scope of services obtained from the 
University. On May 13, 2025, the parties mutually executed and adopted 
the New Agreement, which took effect as of July 1, 2025. 

The University is contingently liable as guarantor on certain obligations 
relating to equipment loans, student and parent loans, and various campus 
organizations. 

The University has a broad portfolio of civil litigation, which reflects the 
complexity of the higher education environment and the diversity of issues 
facing universities today. Among other matters, these include lawsuits 
regarding student disciplinary and campus safety matters, antitrust, athletic 
injuries, disputes with students over tuition and fees charged, personal 
injuries, inappropriate touching, late fees, dental and medical malpractice, 
and employment litigation. In preparing these financial statements, 
management reviewed the entire litigation portfolio with the assistance of 
legal counsel and in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, recorded a 
contingent liability on the consolidated balance sheets to properly account 
for the entire litigation portfolio. 

The University has resolved all civil lawsuits brought by alleged victims 
arising out of the alleged misconduct by Dr. George Tyndall, a gynecologist 
formerly employed by the University at its student health center. In the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, the University agreed to settlements by 
which it collected approximately $55,500,000 in indemnity payments 
from the University’s insurers in connection with litigation related to Dr. 
Tyndall. The University also continues to seek contributions from other 
carriers. While the University continues to expect that an additional 
portion of the Tyndall settlements will be covered by insurance, there can 
be no guarantee of the ultimate amount of coverage. Amounts of future 
insurance reimbursements are unknown as of June 30, 2025, and as a result 
no insurance recovery accruals have been recorded in the 2025 or 2024 
consolidated financial statements. 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the University was named in 
civil putative class action lawsuits (since consolidated into a single class 
action) that assert various legal claims seeking a partial refund of tuition 
and fees as a result of the University’s campus closure and transition to 
remote instruction in response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the Spring 
2020 semester. The University and plaintiffs have agreed to a settlement to 
resolve the dispute; the University expects the court to grant final approval 
of that settlement in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the University was named in a 
civil putative class action seeking a partial refund of tuition paid by online 
Master of Social Work (MSW) students, on the basis that the University 
allegedly falsely advertised that the online and in-person MSW programs 
were the “same,” and in another civil putative class action seeking damages 
on the basis of plaintiffs’ allegations that they paid tuition that they would 
not otherwise have paid as a result of the submissions of allegedly false data 
to U.S. News and World Report by the USC Rossier School of Education 
(“USC Rossier”) causing an inaccurate U.S. News ranking of USC Rossier. 
The University is also cooperating with regulatory matters related to the 
subject matters of these lawsuits. 

During 2025, federal legislation, executive orders, and related regulatory 
actions resulted in numerous changes affecting institutions of higher 
education, including requirements associated with federally sponsored 
research, program administration, and compliance activities. Management 
continues to monitor these developments and assess their potential impact. 
As of the date of these financial statements, the University is not aware 
of any significant loss of federal funding, nor any pending or threatened 
investigations, that would have a material effect on the University’s 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025.
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Note 15.

Grants and Contracts: 

Executed contracts, grants, subcontracts, and cooperative agreements for future sponsored research activity which are not reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements at June 30 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

2025 2024

Current sponsored awards $1,141,818 $971,700 

Executed grants and contracts for future periods 1,162,292 1,121,963 

Total $2,304,110 $2,093,663 

Note 16.

Related Parties:

Members of the Board of Trustees and senior management may, from time to time, be associated, either directly or indirectly, with companies doing business 
with the University. For senior management, the University requires annual disclosure of significant financial interest in entities doing business with the 
University. These annual disclosures cover both senior management and their immediate family members. When such relationships exist, measures are taken to 
appropriately manage the actual or perceived conflict in the best interests of the University. The University has a written conflict of interest policy that requires, 
among other things, that no member of the Board of Trustees can participate in any decision in which he or she or an immediate family member has a material 
financial interest. 

Each trustee is required to certify compliance with the conflict-of-interest policy on an annual basis and indicate whether the University does business with 
an entity in which a trustee has a material financial interest. When such relationships exist, measures are taken to mitigate any actual or perceived conflict, 
including requiring the recusal of the conflicted trustee and that such transactions be conducted at arm’s length, for good and sufficient consideration, based 
on terms that are fair and reasonable to and for the benefit of the University, and in accordance with applicable conflict of interest laws. As part of their regular 
engagement with the University, board members may make contributions and may have outstanding pledges.

Note 17.

Subsequent Events:

On October 24, 2025, the University renewed the existing Bank of America line of credit with a new maturity date of November 30, 2028. The committed 
line maintains similar terms including up to $500 million in capacity for general corporate purposes, a base rate of “Secured Overnight Financing Rate” 
(SOFR), and certain rating and net asset covenants.

The University has performed an evaluation of subsequent events through December 18, 2025, the date these consolidated financial statements were issued.
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ROLE AND MISSION  
OF THE UNIVERSITY 

The central mission of the University of Southern California is the development of human beings and 

society as a whole through the cultivation and enrichment of the human mind and spirit. The principal 

means by which our mission is accomplished are teaching, research, artistic creation, professional 

practice, and selected forms of public service.

Our first priority as faculty and staff is the education of our students, from freshmen to postdoctorals, 

through a broad array of academic, professional, extracurricular, and athletic programs of the 

first rank. The integration of liberal and professional learning is one of USC’s special strengths. We 

strive constantly for excellence in teaching knowledge and skills to our students, while at the same 

time helping them to acquire wisdom and insight, love of truth and beauty, moral discernment, 

understanding of self, and respect and appreciation for others.

Research of the highest quality by our faculty and students is fundamental to our mission. USC is one of 

a very small number of premier academic institutions in which research and teaching are inextricably 

intertwined, and on which the nation depends for a steady stream of new knowledge, art, and 

technology. Our faculty are not simply teachers of the works of others, but active contributors to what 

is taught, thought, and practiced throughout the world.

USC is pluralistic, welcoming outstanding men and women of every race, creed, and background.

We are a global institution in a global center, attracting more international students over the years than 

any other American university. And we are private, unfettered by political control, strongly committed 

to academic freedom, and proud of our entrepreneurial heritage.

An extraordinary closeness and a willingness to help one another are evident among USC students, 

alumni, faculty, and staff; indeed, for those within its compass the Trojan Family is a genuinely 

supportive community. Alumni, trustees, volunteers, and friends of USC are essential to this family 

tradition, providing generous financial support, participating in university governance, and assisting 

students at every turn.

In our surrounding neighborhoods and around the globe, USC provides public leadership and public 

service in such diverse fields as health care, economic development, social welfare, scientific research, 

public policy, and the arts. We also serve the public interest by being the largest private employer in 

the city of Los Angeles, as well as the city’s largest export industry in the private sector.

USC has played a major role in the development of Southern California for more than a century, and 

plays an increasingly important role in the development of the nation and the world. We expect to 

continue to play these roles for many centuries to come. Thus our planning, commitments, and fiscal 

policies are directed toward building quality and excellence in the long term.

Adopted by the USC Board of Trustees, February 1993
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